

Durham E-Theses

A study of the holly leaf miner and its parasites

Woodhouse, C.

How to cite:

Woodhouse, C. (1978) A study of the holly leaf miner and its parasites, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/9245/

Use policy

 $The full-text\ may\ be\ used\ and/or\ reproduced,\ and\ given\ to\ third\ parties\ in\ any\ format\ or\ medium,\ without\ prior\ permission\ or\ charge,\ for\ personal\ research\ or\ study,\ educational,\ or\ not-for-profit\ purposes\ provided\ that:$

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

Academic Support Office, The Palatine Centre, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE e-mail: e-theses.admin@durham.ac.uk Tel: +44 0191 334 6107 http://etheses.dur.ac.uk A study of the holly leaf miner and its parasites

*0

by

糯

G. Woodhouse B.Sc. (Hons.) 1977

A dissertation submitted as part of the requirements for the degree of M.Sc. Ecology, University of Durham September 1978

\$



Abstract.

This short term research was conscerned with an Agromyzid parasite -Phytomyza ilicis, Curt, which attacks young unthickened leaves of <u>lex aquifolium</u>, causing the formation of brown- yellow blotches or mines on the leaf surface. Few papers related to <u>P. ilicis</u> have been published, and no recorded work has been given for the North East area of England, despite the fact that the holly leaf miner /holly tree association provides a useful system for the study of plant-insect relationships.

1.

Aims of the investigation were to determine whether differences in levels of infestation existed between trees of varying age and sex within the same area. Variation in infestation with height and aspect was investigated, together with egg mortality. Later mortality factors by bird-attack and different species of parasites was also examined. The life-cycle of P.ilicis and its parasites was recorded from the mature larval- adult stages. Adult Sphegigaster flavicornis were recorded from suction-traps only.

The study was carried out within Hollingside Wood, Durham city G.R. NZ.276 405. Sixteen holly bushes were examined on the basis of their isolation or proximaty to other holly bushes, position with respect to other vegetation, height and diameter, degree of healthiness based on the number of leaves per twig, sex and position with repect to gradient within the main wood. Six suction-traps were set up within a group of three adjacent trees at varying height intervals within the University field-station. The size of bushes examined varied between 1.7-9.6 metres. Problems with sampling are discussed, and it was decided to sample between 325-4300 leaves depending on the size of the tree. The ideal sample size was 800-1000 leaves. Leaves were examined for the presence of eggs, the number of eggs per leaf, the position along the midrib, the number of mines per leaf and their position on the leaf. Each mine was examined for birdattack, and for the presence of both larval and pupal parasites. Leaf-sections were obtained from each tree for leaves of the 1977 season, to determine whether cuticle thickness influenced the level of infestation between trees. Cuticle thickness was found to be unimportant in determining whether a leaf was mined or not, however cuticle thickness ultimately is important since adult P.ilicis can only attack young leaves where the cuticle is undeveloped.

A variation in the time of emergence for adult <u>P. ilicis</u> was observed when compared with accounts given by Miall and Taylor (1907), Downes(1931), although the general pattern of the life-cycle was similar. No significant difference in the level of infestation was

observed between trees, although total mine and egg number varied significantly. Spatial distribution did not appear to influence the density of mines, and no significant difference in population density with regard to position within Hollingside Wood was found. Aspect and height influenced both total mine and egg number.

Egg mortality was observed to vary between trees but differences were not significant.Egg density was observed to influence the viability of eggs within the leaf, but the relationship was density-independent.

Major sources of mortality were attack by feeding birds, attack

by the larval parasite, <u>C. gemma</u>, and by an undetermined mortality factor influencing survival in the early stages of development. Thepupal parasites observed were <u>C.syma</u> and <u>S.flavicornis</u>.

Contents.

1.	Introduction.
l.a.	The host <u>llex</u> aquifolium.
l.b.	Insect species associated with Ilex aquifolium.
2.1.	Aims of the investigation.
2.2.	Life-history of Phytomyza ilicis.
2.3.	Parasites of Phytomyza ilicis.
2.3.(a)	Chrysocharis gemma (Curt.), walk.
(b)	Chrysocharis syma, walk.
(c)	Sphegigaster flavicornis, walk.
2.4.	Sample Area.
3.	Method.
3.1.	Sampling.
3.2.	Suction-traps.
3.3.	Leaf-sections.
4.	Discussion of results.
4.1.	Data for individual trees.
4.1.1.	Problems with sample size.
4.1.2.	Summary of results for all parameters investigated.
4.1.3.	Aspect variation.
4.1.4.	Height variation.
4.2.	Egg distribution and egg mortality.
4.3.	Major sources of larval and pupal mortality for <u>P. ilicis</u> .
4.4.	Leaf-section results.
4.5.	Life-history for P. ilicis and its major parasites.
5.	Discussion.
6.	Conclusion.
7.	Appendix.
8.	Acknowledgements.
0	Patenennen

1. Introduction

The host, Ilex aquifolium

The holly tree <u>Ilex aquifolium</u> is widespread as an understorey component of many types of woodland; in scrub communities and as a hedgerow tree, often being planted for this reason. Its distribution is probably determined mainly by its sensitivity to prolonged frost. Peterkin and LLoyd (1967), found it to be absent from areas where the mean temperature of the coldest months of the year falls below - 0.5° C and it has been suggested that the eastern boundary of holly is determined by the degree of winter cold, (Iversen 1944).

De Candolle (1855) and Iversen (1944) also found holly distribution to be influenced by the mean temperature of the warmest month, being absent from areas where this did not exceed 12 °C. In Britain holly is naturally absent from areas where the July temperature fails to exceed 12.8 °C. (Fig. 1)

In accordance with Peterkin and LLoyd (1967), no subspecies have been described, although 140 forms have been named, many of which are of horticultural origin (Dallimore 1908). Varieties have been based on the pendulous habit, colour of bark, yellow berries, variegated foilage, leaf shape and size, leaf curvature, number of spines and their abnormal occurance on the leaf surface (Elwes and Henry 1913).

The leaves grow up to 10 cms long and 40 cm² in area, and are alternate and simple. Holly leaves increase in area in the second and subsequent years, although shaded leaves are thinner and larger in area. Their shape is ovate, elliptic or oblong, the margin being undulate or sinuate - dentate, with large spine pointed teeth. However leaves of older trees and individuals in shaded habitats tend to become entire, retaining only the sharp apical spine. The adaxial surface of the leaves is dark-green and glossy, the lower surface being yellow-green and non-glossy.

Shoot extension, leaf formation and root elongation commences early in May, and extends over 2 months, however in the Durham city area G.R. NZ 276 405, where sampling was carried out, climatic factors were less favorable, hence maximum leaf extension was retarded until late June.

1b. Insect species associated with Ilex aquifolium

Holly has a small number of associated insect species compared with other temperature region trees. Southwood (1961) hypothesized that the number of insect species associated with a tree was a reflection of the cumulative abundance of that tree in a particular country throughout recent geological history. Thus the dominant native trees should have most insect species, the recently introduced ones fewest.

la.



:,

Holly is reported to have 7 associated insect species in Britain, while that of oak (<u>Quercus</u> sp.), has 284, (Southwood 1961). The lack of insects on holly throughout the geographical range is marked and is assumed to be associated with either structural or biochemical features. Histological barriers to pathogenic and insect attack include the cuticle and epidermis (Ripley and Van Heerdan 1939; Tanton 1962; Agarwal 1969; Feeny 1970). Plants also contain secondary substances, i.e. phenols, tannins, lignins, alkaloides and glycosides which reduce infection in specific species of plants and digestion by insect feeders. (Fraenkel 1953, 59, 69; Lipke and Fraenkel 1956, Wood 1967).

Feeny (1970), found that the concentration in the spring of feeding caterpillers of the winter moth <u>Operophtera</u> brumata L., and other species of Lepidoptera on oak trees in England, were related to seasonal changes in the texture and chemical composition of the leaves. Leaf toughness was though to be the chief proximate factor preventing winter moth larvae from feeding normally on mature oak leaves, the most important ultimate factor being seasonal decline in available nitrogen. This decline is due to the decrease in leaf protein concentration and to increased concentration of leaf tannins. The ability of tannins to form complexes with proteins, and therefore reduce the availability of nitrogen to plant feeders, is believed to enhance their defensive function in plants. Thus although there appears to be a sufficient supply of food, it may not be available as suitable food for phytophagous insects and other herbivores. The fact that tannins are widespread within the plant kingdom may suggest a similar phenomenon exists with other plant/tree species.

Bracken, an understorey shrub, is also known to have a range of specific chemical defences. These include bound cyanide molecules in addition to ecdysones, the latter acting as a defence against insects since it prevents larvae from completing their life-cycle.

Other factors besides chemical defense may influence herbivore diversity associated with a particular plant species, i.e. it is known that the number of insects feeding on a plant is a function of the geographical range of the species and of the plant architecture. Thus trees being more complex than grasses, tend to have more available niches, resulting in reduced competition for food and space between insect feeders.

Few papers related to <u>Ilex aquifolium</u> and its parasites have been published, thus it is <u>difficult</u> to postulate reasons why insect feeders occur with such low frequency; although structural defence mechanisms appear most obvious.

Peterkin and LLoyd (1967) have summarized the insect feeders and plant pathogens associated with <u>Ilex aquifolium</u> as follows ;-

Hemiptera	4774	Aphididae	Aphis	ilicis Ka	lt.		
Lepidoptera	and the	Geometridae	Acasi	s viretata	Hb.		
		Lycaeridae	Celas	trina argi	olus L.	lst	brood
mainly on fl	ower	buds of holly,	second	mainly on	flower	buds	10
ivy.							

Diptera - Agromyzidae Rhopobota naevana Hb. Phytomyza ilicis Curt.

Plant Pathogens (Moore 1959)

Armillaria mellea (Vahl ex. fr.) Krummer. <u>Helicobasidium purpureum</u> Pat. <u>Phyllosticta aquifolina</u> Grove (Peace 1962). <u>Vialaea insculpta (fr.)</u> Saccardo. <u>Ceuthospora phacidiodes</u> Grey. <u>Phytophora ilicis Buddenhagen and Young (Herridge 1963)</u>.

The most important parasite of <u>Ilex aquifolium</u> is the holly leaf miner, <u>Phytomyza ilicis</u> Curt, which spends the whole of the larval period within the leaf of the host plant, and is responsible for the formation of yellow-bronze blotches observed on the leaves of infected trees. The parasite is unusual amongst the Agromyzidae in that it pupates within the leaf. Other species of Agromyzidae i.e. <u>Phytomyza conii</u> and <u>P. spondylii</u>, on completion of feeding, leave the mine through a semicircular exit slit before pupation. (Hering 1951).

Few papers related to <u>P. ilicis</u> have been published since Miall and Taylor published their paper in 1907, on the structure and life history of the holly-fly. A small account is given in Lewis and Taylor (1974), but the main papers are an account by Cameron (1939) on the holly leaf miner and its parasites, and that by Owen (1975), related to the efficiency of blue-tits <u>Parus</u> caerulens, preying on the larvae of <u>P. ilicis</u>.

The reasons why so little work has centred around <u>llex</u> <u>aquifolium</u> and its insect parasites is probably related to its lack of economic importance in this country. Cameron's work in North America was initiated because of the need to control the unlimited spread of the accidentally introduced leaf miner to that country. On the west coast of Britisn Columbia, European holly is extensively cultivated and since it cannot be successfully grown in other parts of North America, an industry has developed. However the holly leaf miner, unrestrained due to the absence of natural enemies in this area, has resulted in as many as 75 - 80 % of leaves being disfigured as a result of mine formation. Hence from a commercial point of view the trees are reduced in value and are also rendered less ornamental and attractive. The overall effect has not been demostrated, but it is possible that leaf-blotching may have adverse effects on the health of trees, due to the wholesale removal of photosynthetically active cells.

In Britain holly grows extensively, hence its economic importance is reduced.

The holly leaf miner/holly tree association provides a useful system for the study of plant/insect relationship. This relationship may be in the form of shelter, food or transport, and for <u>P·ilicis</u> is essential for the completion of the life-cycle.

Phytomyza ilicis provides a useful tool in the study of insect population dynamics. From mine examinations, mortality factors, parasite species attacking both larvae, and the number of healthy adults emerging can be determined and can be used in the construction of life-tables. Many variables contribute to mortality in a population, however the main fluctuations are usually due to only a few factors, i.e. key-factors. From analysis of life-tables it is possible to determine the key-factor for population change and density - dependant effects. (Morris 1959, Varley and Gradwell 1963). An example of the use of life-table data in determining key-factors is given by Williamson (1972), for the pine-looper moth, <u>Bupalins piniarius</u>, where the key-factor was larval mortality. However for this investigation key-factor analysis was impossible since <u>P. ilicis</u> was at the larval - pupal stage before the study was initiated, hence there was insufficient data. 2,1 Aims of the investigation.

The main sims of the investigation were to determine the lifecycle and copulation dynamics of <u>Phytomyza</u> ilicis in the Durbam city area, since the only other work involved with parasites of the leaf miner was that carried out by Cameron (1939), working in Mampshire, Gloustershire, Buckinghamshire and Surrey during 1937 - 1938; no work having been reported for North East England.

Other which were to determine differences in infestation levels between trees of varying age and sex within the same area. Levels of infectation were recorded for trees in close proximity and solitary trees. Possible variation in infestation with height and aspect was investigated. The numbers of eggs laid and mines formed vas examined, (i.e. mortality in the early stages of development) to determine if the relationship is density - dependent for the trees examined, or whether a fixed proportion of eggs laid, fail to survive to produce visible mines.

Possible reasons for any differences in the number of mines laid per 100 leaves for each tree examined were investigated within the limits of a short term study. Factors which were thought to influence intestation were associated with leaf structure, nutrition levels within the leaves (Rennedy 1951) and the level of defence compounds i.e. tenning and phenols. The first of these factors only, was investigated although it would have been useful, time permitting, to examine other factors.

Later mortality factors, i.e. by bird-pecks and different species of perasites on <u>F. ilicis</u> were examined to determine whether a density-dependent relationship existed between percentage perasitism and the levels of infestation for each tree.

2.2 Life-history of Phytomyza ilicis

The life-history of the insect spans 1 year. The image emerges from the puparium towards the end of May (Miall and Taylor 1907 bownes 1931), no after fertilization the female byses on the young onthickened leaves of the current years growth. The foilage at this stage is non-waxy and soft, thus easily penetrated by the ovipositor. Pits were observed on the upper and lower surface of infected leaves only and are associated with feeding holes made during egg-laying.

The site where eggs are laid is located near the base of the midrib on the lower side of the leaves (Fig. 2). The female bores a vertical shaft which, on reaching the vessels of the leaf, bends at right angles and continues horizontally along the midrib. The eggs is deposited in the horizontal section of the tunnel. The wound made in the midrib is closed by cork cells, hence it can be identified by running the thumb along the midrib. The egg is white and oval in shape measuring 0.383 by 0.160 mm. (Miall and Taylor 1907).



Frequency

The egg hatches, but the first stage larva remains in the midrib until September - November, when it leaves the central vessels and enters the soft green outer tissues. The larva feeds on the parenchyma below the epidermis until large blotches appear on the leaf surface. The mine reaches maximum size in March, and usually occurs on the upper epidermis, although it can be found on both surfaces. Between July and March the larva moults twice passing through 3 larval stages, the first lasting from July to December, the second from December to January, and the third from February until the formation of the pupae late in March. Before oupating the mature larva prepares a thin triangular area on the cuticle of the leaf, against which a hinged emergence plate of similar size on the puparium will abut, so that escape by the mature fly will be easily accomplished.

Whilst feeding on the leaf tissues the larva lies on its side, but before entering the pupal stage it turns onto its back so that the vertical surface is pressed against the epidermis and its anterior spiracles are projected through the attenuated area of the cuticle. The imago makes its escape from the leaf by pressing the ptilinum against the hinged emergence plate on the puparium, which in turn breaks through the thin cuticle above it. (A detailed account is given by Miall and Taylor (1907).

2.3 Parasites of Phytomyza ilicis

Before 1939, only one previous record of a parasite of the holly leaf-miner was recorded - Dacnusa maculata, Gour (Braconid), on P. ilicis in Italy. Cameron (1939) was the first to record the listed species of parasites on P. ilicis.

Chelcidoidea

Eulophidae		1.	Chrysocharis gemma (Curt), Walk.
		2.	Chrysocharis syma, Walk.
		3.	Pleurotropis amyntas, Walk.
		4.	Closterocerus trifasciatus, Walk.
		5.	Tetracamoa sp.
Pteromalidae		6.	Sphegigaster flavicornis, Walk.
		7.	Crytogaster vulgaris, Walk.
		8.	Eutelus sp.
Ichneumanoide	a		
Braconida	-	9.	<u>Opius ilicis,</u> Nixon.

A key to the identification of all species at various stages of development is given by Cameron (1939). A brief discription and life-history of the parasites found during this investigation only will be given. Any supplementary information is given in detail in the forementioned paper.

a) Chrysocharis gemma (Curt), Walk.

This was observed to be the commonest parasite of the holly leaf-miner in the South of England. (Cameron 1939) 30-40% of fly larvae found during the investigation by Cameron (1937-1938), were attacked by this species. In 1938, at Burnham Beeches, Bucks. 71 from a 100 possible hosts were infected. The species is widely distributed throughout Europe, Africa, America and Australasia. Female C. gemma have an unusual habit of overwintering in the adult stage. Egg laying occurs towards the end of February in Southern England. A small number of females may be found to oviposite as late as April, although few host larvae are available. A single egg is laid through the cuticle of the leaf, and is deposited in the body cavity of the larva. Superparasitism may occur but is infrequent.

Attacked larvae of P. ilicis become yellow and have a dirty pale yellow colour, which contrasts with the turgid bright shiny lemon colour of healthy larvae.

Incubation of the parasite eggs lasts from 7 - 10 days, according to temperature after which the first stage larvae appear. The larva is assumed to pass through at least three distinct stages and is mature after 16-20 days. After feeding is completed the larva remains in the resting stage for 8-10 days before the formation of prepupa, hence larval life lasts for approximately 4 weeks. Time spent in the prepupal and pupal stages is 4 and 38 days respectively. Cameron (1939) quotes pupae of <u>C. gemma</u> as being found from 12th April onwards. A description of the developmental stages is given by Cameron (1939).

b.) Chrysocharis syma, Walk.

C. syma is a parasite of the pupa and has only been recorded in England, Scotland and France.

When the fact that this parasite attacks the pupae only is considered, the general biology of the species is similar to that given for <u>C. gemma</u>. Eggs are laid internally in the fly pupae during April, depending on the availability of the latter. Larval development is similar to that of <u>C. gemma</u>; the prepupal and pupal stages lasting for l_2^{\pm} and 19 days. Adult emergence was found to occur from early July onwards. Again a description of the developmental stages is given in detail by Cameron (1939).

c.) Sphegigaster flavicornis, Walk.

The species was found to be fairly well distributed throughout areas examined by Cameron. Its geographical range is North and Central Europe. A small number of host records are available and it appears that members of the genus <u>Sphegigaster</u> parasitize leaf mining and stem-boring Diptera, in addition to gall-making species of the family Cecidomyidae. A few species also attack aphids.

According to Cameron (1939), the parasite becomes active on the holly tree in early April. Oviposition is time consuming, since, the insect must bore through the cuticle of the leaf and the tough skin of the puparium, and usually extends over 30 minutes. The egg is then deposited externally on the pupa of <u>Phytomyza ilicis</u>. Incubation lasts from 4 - 7 days concluding in the emergence of the first stage larva, which feeds externally on the host puparium. Five larval stadia exist. The larva feeds actively for 11 - 13 days, after which it enters a resting period spanning 5 days before it becomes a prepupa. The prepupal and pupal stages last for 2 days and 6 days respectively, and adults emerge from late June onwards although some individuals fail to complete metamorphosis until the middle of August. In this investigation parasites were observed at the mature larval stage onwards. A key for classification of larval, prepupa and pupal stages is explained in Cameron (1939).

 $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}$

2.4 Sample area.

The area chosen for investigation runs parallel to Hollingside Lane, Durham city, G.R. NZ.276 405, and is part of the main Hollingside Wood. The approximate area is indicated on Fig. 3a. and spans 116 metres along the length of the lane, and 37 metres into the wood. The wood is deciduous, prominent species of trees being oak (Quercus patraea), beech (Fagus sylvatica), sycamore (Acer pseudo-platanus), silver birch (Betula pendula), with a few species of scots Fine (Pinus sylvestris). Holly propagates both from seed and via under ground rhizomes, thus young bushes tend to spread laterally and are often clumped within a small area.

Sixteen holly bushes were chosen for examination on the basis of their isolation or proximaty to other holly bushes, position with respect to other vegetation, height and diameter, degree of healthiness based on the number of leaves per twig, sex and position with respect to gradient within the main wood. (Table 1.).

Trees examined were of varied morphology. Multi-stemmed structures were examined e.g. Tree 10, where three individual trees arose from a single main structure. Other bushes were small, having no prominent main structure but seemed to be formed from a mass of lateral branches. Under shade conditions branches tend to become pendulous, and on reaching the ground these form adventitious roots, thus root suckers are common e.g. Trees 4 and 7. The older hence taller trees tended to have fewer leaves per branch at higher levels, the former having fewer teeth per leaf, and these were observed to be less shiny when compared with leaves taken from lower levels. Aspect was also found to influence the number of leaves found per branch.

Thus trees examined varied in growth form and position with respect to the lane. Those nearest Hollingside Lane were assumed to suffer more from exposure since they were not as sheltered as trees within the wood itself. However they were overshadowed to a lesser degree by dominant vegetation. After 6 metres, the ground sloped steeply downhill, (1 : 2 gradient), hence trees examined on these sites (3,4,5,6,7,8,10,15,16) experienced differing physical conditions - leaching, water availability - from those situated at the top of the slope (1,2,11,12,13,14).

Six suction-traps were set up in a group of three adjacent trees, situated on sloping terrain, within Durham University fieldstation (Fig 3a.), at varying heights above ground level to monitor the emergence of P. ilicis adult flies of the 1977 season, and those adult flies during egg-laying. The traps were also intended to monitor the number of parasitic flies of Phytomyza ilicis.

Details for each tree sampled and their proximaty to each other is given in Fig. 3b, Table 1.

14.

DESCRIPTION OF OF NEIGHEOURING VEGETATION	OAK, BEECH, WILLOW	OAK	OAK, S. BIRCH, PINE	OAK, S. BIRCH	OAK, S. BIRCH, FINE	OAK, BEECH	BEECH, S. BIRCH	OAK, BEECH	OAK	OAK, S. BIRCH	BEECH, SYCAMORE	BEECH, OAK	OAK	OAK	BEECH, OAK.	BECH.
DISTANCE BETWEEN TREES	1-2, 15.70	2-3, 7.50	3-4, 19.50	4-5, 6.20	5-6, 15.50	6-6, 3.00	7-8, 13,00	8-9, 5.00	9-10, 3.00	10-11, 6.40	11-12, 3.50	12-13, 5.50	13-14, 3.20	14-15, 7.00	15-16, 2.75	
DISTANCE FROM LANE TO TREE	5.80	4.00	14.80	18.40	12.20	21.00	19.40	5.00	4•00	7.50	20.90	9.50	11.70	14.00	30.00	37 . 00
LENGTH	• 80	2.50	8.00	e* 00 9*	3.85	4.20	3.25	4.35	3.50	11.40	2.70	4.80	3.35	6 • 60	7 • 30	6.40
DIAMETER	2.60	2.50	7 . 60	4.00	4.00	4.40	3.10	3.10	3.90	2°00	3°-10	5.30	3.40	6.85	5.40	7.40
HEIGHT (METRES)	3.70	2.80	5.70	2.80	1.70	2.90	2.40	4•35	2 . 85	5.55	2 . 35	09.6	2.70	7.40	2 •60	6.59
TREE NO.	° ~~~			4	5.	•0	•	•	°.		•			14. 	2°.	

Table 1. Description of Trees sampled.

All measurements in metres.

.





edors - prog mogr seen to unRuer

3. Method 3.1. Sampling

The aim of the investigation was to measure the level of infestation within a defined area, thus trees examined had to be representative of the size and age range of <u>llex</u> <u>aquifolium</u> within the area. The size of bushes and trees examined varied between 1.70 and 9.60 metres, and this coupled with the irregular growth pattern of <u>llex</u> posed a major problem with regard to choosing a suitable sampling method, since one method was not applicable to all trees.

An initial sample of 100 leaves was taken from each tree to estimate the level of infestation. Stokes (1969), estimated a minimum sample size of 750 leaves, concluding that this estimate would lie within 10% of the correct figure for infestation. In this investigation the effect of parasitism was investigated and since percentage parasitism was found to vary between trees, it was necessary to sample as many leaves as was practical (i.e. 325 -4300 leaves depending on the size of the tree). Collection of data was carried out from mid-April until late July, thus only the latter half of the complete growth cycle was examined for 1977 season and the begining of the 1978 season.

Variation in the level of infestation with aspect and height was investigated and is discussed later. Assuming no significant variation in infestation with both aspect and height, then a random sampling method can be adopted. However should a difference between different areas of the same tree be found, then ideally more leaves should be sampled from areas indicating lowest infestation. It is extremely difficult to obtain a genuinely random sample of shoots or leaves and in this study population density is expressed as the value per 100 leaves sampled. As the number of leaves sampled for each tree varied, this was a good method for making comparisons between trees. To get an absolute estimate of population density is difficult since the total number of leaves on the tree is required and this posed another unsolved sampling problem, which is discussed in detail later.

Various sample sizes were taken for earlier trees examined to estimate the minimum sample size required and the variation in accuracy with increased sampling effort. Results are discussed later.

Initially for Tree 1. 42 twigs of similar length were sampled to investigate variation in levels of infestation with aspect and 6' twigs were also sampled per 50 cm height interval to investigate height variation. Although these twigs were of similar length, the number of leaves supported by each twig varied and posed; problems with data analysis. Thus the number of twigs sampled per tree was reduced and the final number of leaves per sample was kept constant for ease in statistical analysis. The method used was simple. Twigs were sampled at regular intervals, starting from the base of the bush and sampled randomly over the entire bush to the apex. The final number of leaves obtained per tree depended on the size of the sample tree. All leaves sampled were examined for the presence of eggs, and egg numbers per leaf were recorded. The position of eggs along the midrib was also measured. Presence or absence of a mine on a leaf was recorded, together with the number of mines supported by the leaf and their position, i.e. whether on the adaxial or abaxial leaf surface. Each mine was examined for bird attack characterized by a V-shaped peck-mark within the mine, for small triangular emergence holes characteristic of adult <u>P. ilicis</u> and for small round emergence holes characteristic of the adult parasites of the leaf-miner, (Lewis and Taylor, 1974). Opened mines were examined and contents identified under a binocular microscope. Thus it was possible to determine the number of adults which had emerged successfully, the number of individuals, i.e. both mature larvae and pupae which were parasitized, the species of parasite present, the extent of development and finally the number of individuals which had died from undetermined factors. Mines from which C. gemma, the larval parasite had emerged, were characterized by the absence of the orange pupal case of P. ilicis , coupled with the black shiny remains of the Chrysocharis pupal case.

Individuals extracted from the mines were also measured.

A 100 leaves per tree were sampled for the new season's growth and the number of eggs per 100 leaves determined.

3.2 Suction-traps.

Six suction-traps, were established at three height intervals, 1,3 and 6 metres above ground level, within a clump of three holly trees within the field-station site (Fig. 3a), and operated from two battery chargers. These were emptied at weekly intervals throughout the investigation and the contents examined. The traps were set up during the middle of April, when adult <u>C. gemma</u> are abundant and continued running until late July, when it was hoped to sample all adult parasites and adult <u>P. ilicis</u>. Insects were identified to family level initially but detailed examination of trap contents was too time-consuming, thus trap contents were only examined for leaf-miners and their parasites.

3.3 Leaf-section.

The level of infestation by <u>P. ilicis</u> is known to fluctuate between sample trees, and since it was one of aims of the investigation to determine possible causes for this variation, both leaf and cuticle thickness for <u>Ilex</u> <u>aquifolium</u> leaves was measured.

A random sample of 7 leaves from 1977 season, which had been mined and a further sample of 7 leaves without mines were obtained for each tree, so that a total of 14 leaves were taken for the entire tree. Obviously cuticle thickness will have increased since the eggs were first laid, but it was hoped that any variation in both leaf and cuticle thickness would still exist between trees. An initial sample of leaves from a single holly tree was taken to determine whether any relationship between size, leaf thickness and cuticle thickness for both the upper and lower epidermis existed. Size was found to influence both leaf and cuticle thickness, (section 4.4), thus the size of sampled leaves for all trees was kept as uniform as possible. During the current seasons growth, leaves of various sizes were sampled from the same tree to monitor cuticle development, since it is at this stage that leaves are attacked by P. ilicis.

For all leaves sampled a thin section was taken across the midrib (Fig.17) and the thickness of the leaf at sites a,b,c were measured. Initially cuticle thickness was measured at the three points, but little variation between a and c was found, thus measurements were reduced to a and b. A transverse section was prepared for each leaf as follows and mean values for leaf and cuticle thickness obtained for each tree.

T.S. sections :-

All sections were fixed in Rawlins fluid overnight. They were then immersed in 70% alcohol for approximately 1 hour, after which they were transferred to 95% and two changes of absolute alcohol respectively, for 1 hour duration with each change of fluid. The sections were then placed in a 1:1 alcohol/xylene fluid for 1 hour, followed by two changes of pure xylene for 1 hour with each change of fluid. Sections were transferred to a xylene/wax mixture at 57°Cfor 1 hour. Three changes of fresh wax was used over a 12 hour period. The third change was left overnight. The tissues were then blocked in fresh wax containing 0.5% ceresin and left to horden. 7.5 µ sections were cut on a microtome and floated on warm vater to flatten the wax-sections. Each group of leaves were placed on a glass slide, which had been spotted with egg albumin/thymol mixture and smeared over the slide to prevent clouding of the final tissue-section. The slides were dried on a hot-plate at 37°C.

Finally the immersion process was reversed for each slide, each change of fluid lasting for 1 hour. The slides were then immersed in water and stained with 1% aqueous safranin. The staining process was taken back to the xylene stage and each section mounted in a D.P.X. mountant and left to harden.

Each section was measured for leaf thickness at X40 magnification and for cuticle thickness at X400. All values were converted to cms.

4. Discussion of results.

4.1 Data for individual trees.

4.1.1 Problems with sample size.

When Stokes (1969), carried out his investigation on <u>Phytomyza</u> <u>ilicis</u> for Ancient Camp area of North Wales, the sampling <u>method</u> adopted was extremely complex and resulted in 100 - 150 leaves being sampled for each site. In this investigation the accuracy associated with a small sample size, and that of a larger sample was compared for each tree. The problem with a small sample size, apart from being unrepresentative of the entire tree, is that a small increase in total egg or mine number per hundred leaves sampled, results in a considerably higher estimate of infestation. <u>Phytomyza</u> mines are clearly visible thus from a small sample, levels of infestation for the entire tree tend to be overestimated as a result of subjective errors, hence by using large samples for overall estimates of infestation, and by sampling twigs of similar size only, it was hoped to reduce the amount of subjectivity.

The physical description of each tree examined together with proximate vegetation is given in Table 1, and the extent of isolation of each tree is indicated in Fig. 3b. From a theoretical viewpoint the proximaty of trees to each other was assumed to influence the level of infestation of individual trees, the reasoning being that trees closer together are more likely to be reinfected by adult <u>Phytomyza</u> from adjacent trees, whilst trees further from the main concentration of adult flies prove less favourable hosts, since more time is wasted travelling between trees and searching for suitable oviposisition sites. Measurements of height and diameter for the sample trees indicate both age and growth vigour, and this may also influence levels of infestation, since healthy trees presumably provide a more favourable environent for the completion of the life-cycle.

Trees sampled can be catergorised on the basis of position within the wood; i.e. those situated on the edge of the wood at the top of the bank (Trees 1,2,11,13,14), those intermediatery in position (Trees 3,5,8,9,10), and finally those at the base of the slope positioned within the wood itself.

A summary of the number of samples and sample size is given in Table 3. The results based on 100 leaves sampled is given in Table 4, Fig.4. Generally a bigger sample size reduces the estimated values for egg density, total mines observed and that for infestation. Exceptions to this are estimates for Trees 6 and 7, where values increased with sample size. A summary of results for all parameters investigated for 16 trees, together with the total number of leaves sampled is given in Table 5. Large deviations in estimates for all parameters were observed for Trees 2,6,7,9,11, according to the number of leaves sampled.

For Tree 1, Table 3 and 4, three samples were taken, i.e. 100, 1,384 and 3,108 leaves, and as for all results, the number of leaves with mines, total number of mines, total number of eggs was determined. These values were expressed per 100 leaves, in order that comparisons between samples and ultimately between trees, could be made.

•		INFESTATION + SE	10.86 - 9.86	13.94 - 9.18		INFESTATION + SE	8.02 - 6.42	9.63 - 7.83		INFESTATION + SE	16.95 - 14.99	17.23 - 15.89	18.42 - 17.26	
	•	EI VJ	6.0	2.38		N N N	0°8	6°0		E	0.98	0.92	0.58	* .
		INFESTATION	10.36	11.56		INFESTATION	7.22	8.74		INFESTATION	15.97	16.31	17.84	
		EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	13.42	14.09		EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	00°6	10.77		EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	21.38	22.5	25.70	
		MINES -1 100 LEAVES	10.94	12.14		MINES -1 100 LEAVES	7.56	в.96		MINES -1 100 LEAVES	16.39	16.81	18.60	
	e sizes 	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	417	195	i s I Z e S	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	81	149	S 112 66	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	300	360	1105	
	lifferent sampl	TOTAL NO• OF MINES	340	168	ifferent sample	TOTAL NO • OF MINES	68	124	ifferent sample	TOTAL NO. OF MINES	230	692	804	
	results for 2 (NO. LEAVES WITH MINES	327	160	cesults for 2 d	NO. LEAVES WITH MINES	65	121	results for 3 d	NO. LEAVES WITH MINES	224	261	767	
3a) Tree 1.	Summary of	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	3108	1384	3b) Tree 2. Summary of 1	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	900	1384	3c) Tree 3. Summary of	TCTAL NO. OF LEAVES	1403	1600	4500	

ł

Table 3.

	INFESTATION + SE	24.26 - 20.34	24.62 - 22.05			· INFESTATION + SE	20.94 - 16.60	27.45 - 19.27	19.02 - 14.00
	SE	1.96	1.28			E	2,17	4.09	2.51
	INFESTATION	22.30	23.33			INFESTATION	18.77	23.36	16.51
	EGGS -1 100 LFAVES	30.91	32 . 06			EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	23.70	29.91	20.60
	MINES -1 100 LEAVES	23.84	25 . 28			MINES -1 100 LEAVES	19.08	24.30	16.51
	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	140	345		s iz es	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	77	32	45
1 2 sample sir	TOTAL NO. OF MINES	108	272		ifferent sample	TOTAL NO. OF MINES	62	26	36
esults based or	NO. LEAVES WITH MINES	101	251		esults for 3 d.	NO. LEAVES WITH MINES	61	25	36
Summary of 1	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	453	1076	3e) Tree 7.	Summary of 1	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	325	107	218

3d) Tree 6.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS FOR ALL TREES BASED

ON LOO LEAVES SAMPLED

	🛊 a statut da ser estatut de la serie de la se	9	
Tree No.	Mines per 100 Leaves	Eggs per 100 Leaves	Infestation S.E.
1	15.00	17.00	15.00 18.35 11.65
2	17.00	18.00	17.00 20,90 11.20
3	15.00	18.00	15.00 ^{18,35} 11.65
ganaaneesessaaneesessaaneesessa anno anno anno anno anno anno anno a	16.82	17.76	15.5 16.85 15.20
	29.66	37.29	27.00 ^{32.5} 23.00
6	20.39	26.21	18.5 22.00 14.5
антанан алганаларын аларын аларын 17	24.30	29,91	23.5 27.00 19.5
	9.62	10,58	8.8 12.6
9	21.000	27.00	21,00 ^{21,84} 14,16
10	30,00	45.00	26.00 30.5
nezzorego go na nazione de nazione de nazione popular go nazione de nazione de nazione de nazione de nazione de 2, 2,	1.8,000	24.00	17.00 20.75 17.00 13.24
12	18,00	28 _° 00	16.00 ^{20.12} 11.88
23 23	1.2 ,000		12.00 15.24 8.76
14	25.00	38.00	24.00 ^{28.27} 19.73
15	14.00	1.6,000	13.00 16.36 13.00 9.64
16	14.00	21,00	12.00 15.25 8.75
	I		8

Table.....



	TREE NO.		N		4	5	9	7	ω	6	0	T	, <mark>6</mark>	13	71	7	16
	INFESTATION + SE	10.86- 9.86	9.63 - 7.83	18.42-17.26	14.70-12.99	21.69-21.49	24.62-22.05	20.94-16.60	10.29- 8.11	13.53-11.85	20.84-19.30	10.47- 8.23	21.09-18.35	10.34-8.98	21.95-19.35	27.74-24.6	16.78-13.2
	Ð		6•0	0.58	0.895	••	1•28	2.17	60 • L	0•89	0.78	1.12	1.37	0.68	1.20	1.58	1.78
	INFESTATION	10.36	8.74	17.84	13.88	21.59	23.33	18.77	9.20	12.64	20.07	9.35	12.72	9,66	20.75	26.16	15.00
	EGGS 100 -1 LEAVES	13.42	10.77	25.70	18.58	33•24	32 • 06	23.70	14.08	18.71	31.37	13.06	30-93	15.83	28.21	40.21	20.89
	MINES 100 –1 LEAVES	10.94	8.96	18.60	14.69	23.93	25.28	19.08	9•53	13.29	22.37	9.94	21.49	12.61	22.01	29,25	20.65
• • •	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	417	149	1105	277	571	343	77	66	262	847	œœ	262	113	314	312	9
	TOTAL NO. OF MINES	340	124	804	219	411	272	62	67	186	617	67	182	90	245	227	83
	NO. OF LEAVES WITH MINES	327	121	767	207	371	251	61	ŚŚ	117	542	63	167	69	231	203	63
	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	3108	1384	4300	1491	1718	1076	325	202	1400	2700	674	847	714	1113	776	402

Table 5.

İ

Estimates of infestation for Tree 1 with 100 leaves was 15^{\pm} 3.35, for 1.384 and 3.108 leaves, estimates were 11.56 \pm 2.38 and 10.36 \pm 0.5 respectively. Thus for a X 300 fold increase in leaves sampled estimates for infestation were reduced by 33%. Considering results for 100 leaf-sample and 1.000 leaf-sample, no difference in the overall level of infestation was found since the confidence intervals overlapped.

For Tree 2, three samples were taken but were of 100,900 and 1,384 leaves. Values for infestation again were varied, 17.0^{\pm} 3.76, 7.22^{\pm} 0.8 and 8.74^{\pm} 0.89 respectively. Thus a X9 fold increase in sample size reduced the estimate by 41%. Little difference was found between 900 and 1,384 leaf-samples.

Four samples were taken for Tree 3. These were of 100, 1,403, 1,600, and 4,300 leaves as given in Table 3 and 4. Again variation was observed with sample size. For 100 leaves, estimates were 15.0 ± 3.35 , for 1,403 leaves - 15.97 ± 0.98 , for 1,600 leaves 16.31 ± 0.98 , and finally for 4,300 leaves - 17.84 ± 0.58 . Thus for Tree 3, excluding the results for small sample size, increasing the number of leaves sampled from 1403 to 4,300 improved the estimate to such a small degree when maximum values were considered, that under normal sampling proceedures, it appears 1,000 leaves are sufficient to give reliable estimates. In this investigation, an idea of the number and also species of parasites attacking <u>Phytomyza</u> was required, thus it was necessary to sample as many leaves as was practical in terms of time and effect upon the host tree.

For Tree 6, a $X2\frac{1}{2}$ fold increase in sample size had little influence on the overall estimates for infestation, however the errors involved with too small a sample size is indicated for Tree 7, Table 3e.

Thus the ideal minimum samples size for all trees was taken as 800 - 1,000 leaves where the size of the trees permitted. The sample size taken for Tree 16 was too low for an accurate estimate. A more realistic figure would be approximately 10%. Ideally more leaves should have been collected.

4.1.2. Summary of results for all parameters investigated.

The results for total egg - density, mine number, and overall infestation for the 16 sample trees is given in Table5. Using Chi-square tests the differences for all parameters between trees was investigated for significance. When values for infestation were compared X² was found to be 30.2. This was significant at 5% level. The result was insignificant at the 1% level. The trees were ranked according to size and tested using a 2X2 contingency - test, to determine whether height of trees was the factor causing the observed variation. Results were insignificant at 5% level. Thus the overall levels of infestation are independent of height and it was assumed independent of the diameter of bushes although this was not tested.

Calculated X values for egg-density variation between trees and total mine variation gave values of 50.24 and 33.85 Both results were significant at 5% and 1% level respectively. of significance. From Table 5, using egg-data as estimates of population density, Phytomyza density is highest for Trees 5. 6, 10, 12 and 15. Those least affected being Trees 1,2,8 and 13. Lowest values were observed for Trees 1 and 2, and these were the most isolated (Fig. 3b). Trees 4 and 5 were clumped into a small area, similarly for Trees 6 and 7, with approximately 15 metres between these areas. Egg-density estimates were close for Trees 4 and 5, but not so for 6 and 7. Trees 8 - 14 were clumped within a restricted area thus assuming the previous hypothesis is correct egg-density was expected to be higher within this area. When mean values were compared for the three main areas, egg-density was greatest for units 6 - 7, thus although isolated trees tended to have lower population density of Phytomyza little difference was observed between moderately spaced trees and those within a restricted space.

From Tables] and⁵ it would appear trees nearest the road have lower levels of infestation compared with those further into the wood. Areas where greatest difference between egg-density existed were for those trees at the top of the slope and those situated on the slope. Comparisons of the mean values for egg-density gave t - 1.06 at 5% level of significance. The tabulated value was 2.31, therefore the difference was insignificant.

Trees 3 and 10 were female trees, identified by the red berries from the previous season, and these were found to have high values for both total egg number and mine number. However no conclusions could be drawn since it was very difficult to sex the remaining trees. Absence of berries was not an accurate indication of sex, hence for discrimination between trees, more effort should have been put into sexing them prior to the investigation.

4.1.3 Aspect variation.

Investigation into possible variations in the level of infestation with aspect was carried out for Trees 1,2,3,4,5, and 9, i.e. over the size range of trees sampled.

For Tree 1, Table6,42 twigs were sampled per side of the tree for all heights and these were of similar lengths. However the Those on the East-facing side number of leaves per twig varied. were more sparse probably due to competition for light with neighbouring vegetation. Leaf number on the West-facing side was highest hence growth was more vigourous. Thus equal numbers per side of the tree were ultimately sampled. The size for Tree 1 was 346 leaves since this was the maximum possible for the Eastern aspect without causing damage to the tree. (Table 6b). Comparisons for the different sample sizes are indicated in Table 6c, the error involved with reduced sample size being slight except for results from West-side, where sample size had been reduced by The calculated value for X^2 to test for differences in 69%. infestation with aspect, using data for total mine numbers was 6.40 for 3 degrees of freedom at the 5% level of significance (Appendix 2.). This was lower than tabulated values for X^{2} , hence no significant difference resulted, although from Table 6c, both infestation and total mine density appeared to be higher on East and South-facing sides.

	INFESTATION + SE	$16.27 < 716.97 \\ 14.50$	8.25 < 7.53	8.24 < 7.24	$11.55 < 12.55 \\ 10.5$		INFESTATION + SE.	15.61 < 7.56 3.66	$10.69 < 72.35 \\ 9.03$	8.38 10.36	11.56 53.28
	E S	02.	0.82	1			ES.	1.95	1.66	1.98	1 • 72
	MINES1 100 LEAVES	16.49	8.60	8.99 ~	12.48		MINES -1 100 LEAVES	15.90	10.98	9.25	12.43
	ECGS -1 100 LEAVES	20.99	10.31	10.04	15.95		EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	19.36	11.56	10.12	15.32
vith aspect	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	86	5	67	137		TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	67	40	35	53
ytomyza ilicis v <u>gth</u> :-	TOTAL NO. OF MINES	LL	96	60	107		TOTAL NO OF MINES	55	38	32	43
estation by <u>Pr</u> of similar ler	LEAVES WITH MINES	76	92	55	66		LEAVES WITH MINES	54	37	29	40
n level of infe d on 42 twigs of	TCTAL NO. OF LEAVES	467	11.15	667	859	mple size	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	346	346	546	346
Variation i Sample base	ASPECT	E4	M		Š	Tree 1. 6b. Constant sa	ASPECT			N	ß

Table 6. Tree 1. 5a.

	sizes
	sample
	\sim
	the
60.	for
Tree 1	Summerry

ASI								
TOTAL NO OF LEAVES	467 Z 145	74.0		546	- 667	346	859	346
INFESTATION + SE.	16.97 - 14.50 17 56 12 66		9.07 - 7.33	12•35 - 9•03	9.24 - 7.24	10.36 - 6.40	12.55 - 10.55	• 13.28 - 9.84
SE	1.70 1.35	(6•1	0.82	1.66	1 • 0	1•9		1.72
INFESTATION	16.27 15.61	1000	8 8	10 . 69	8 . 24	8.38		11.56
MINES -1 100 LEAVES	16.49 15 00	02°C	0 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	10 . 98	8•99	9.25	12.48	12.43
EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	20 . 99 10 zć			11.56	10.04	10•12	15.95	15.32

PECT

A significant difference however in the number of eggs laid per 100 leaves with aspect was observed. The calculated X² was 13.1 compared with a tabulated value of 7.81. This was significant at both 5 and 1% levels (Appendix2). Fewer eggs were laid on Noth-facing leaves, maximum values for leaves on Eastern-facing areas, possibly because the latter is more sheltered.

For Tree 2 the final sample size was 346 per side of the tree. Comparisons in the level of infestation for total mine data gave a significant difference with aspect at 5 and 1% levels of significance, (Table7b) (Appendix2). For egg density data, a significant difference was observed at both levels of significance (Appendix2). Maximum eggs were laid on East-facing leaves, however fewest eggs were found on Westerly leaves. Total mine data gave a similar result, North and South-facing leaves having similar levels of infestation (Table7c).

For Tree 3, 400 leaves were sampled per side of the tree and the variation with aspect is indicated in Table8b. Results for both egg density and total mine number were significant at both 5 and 1% levels of significance (Appendix 2). However infestation was lowest on the Eastern-side i.e. 11.00 ± 1.5 , and highest on the Western-face i.e. 22.50 ± 2.08 . Corresponding values for eggs per 100 leaves were 14.50 and 32.00.

For these three trees a comparison between the results based on a constant sample of twigs and that for constant leaf number were compared, (Tables 6c, 7c, 8c). A sample size of 300 - 400leaves were taken as the most practical.

For Tree 4, the total sample size was 346 leaves per side of the tree (Table9). Values for X^2 for both egg-density and total mine number gave significant result. For total mine number the calculated X^2 was 18.17 compared to a tabulated value of 7.81, and that for egg-density was 31.43 compared with 7.81. These were significant even at the 1% level (Appendix 2). In terms of egg-density data, the lowest population densities were observed for East and South-facing sides, maximum for the West side. This trend was observed for total mine data.

For Tree 5, the sample size was 400 leaves, (Table10). An insignificant differences at the 5% level was observed for total mine data (Appendix2), i.e. calculated value for X^2 was 7.19, compared with a tabulated value of 7.81. For egg-density data, the result was significant at both 5 and 1% levels i.e. calculated value for X^2 was 15.22 compared with a tabulated value of 7.81. Differences between egg number was small for East, North and Southern aspects; lowest values appearing for the West side. Similar trends were observed with total mine data.

For Tree 9, a total sample size of 300 leaves per side of the tree was used (Tablell). No significant difference was observed for both egg-density and total mine number (Appendix 2) although from raw data, Eastern areas had higher values for both egg and mine number.

	NOLTATION + SE	9.94 < 72.22	$3.87 < 2.73 \\ 2.73$	$6.09 < \int_{5.18}^{8.62} 62$	10.09 <12.22		INFESTATION + SE.	13.29<15.11	$4.91 < \frac{6.07}{3.08}$	8.47<10.41 6.53	8.38 6.89
	SE	2 • 2 8	1.14	1.72	2.13		SE	2 9 -	1.16	1.94	1.49
	MINES -1 100 LEAVES	11.10	4.06	9	10.09		MINES -1 100 LEAVES	13.87	5.20	8.47	8.38
	EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	1 1 20	4.06	8.33	11.01		EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	18.79	5.78	9.83	8.67
	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	26	13	1	24		TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	65	20	34	30
TTA	TOTAL NO. OF MINES	61	12	۲ ۲	22	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	TOTAL NO. OF MINES	48	18	29	29
SHAT TOTTITO T	LEAVES WITH MINES	17	-	5	22		LEAVES WITH MINES	46	17	6	29
	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	171	295	216	218	ple size	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	346	346	346	346
	ASPECT	f.	M	N	Ω.	Tree 2. 7b. Constant sam	ASPECT		M M	N	Ω.

Tree 2 7a. Variation in level of infestation by <u>Phytomyza ilicis</u> with aspect.

Sample based on 22 twigs of similar length

	N	66 47	73 8	18 53	96 89	
	INFESTATIO + SE.	12.22 - 7. 15.11 -11.	5.01- 2. 6.07- 3.	8.62- 5. 10.41- 6.	12.22- 7. 9.87- 6.	
-	SH.	2•28 1•82	1.14 1.16	1•72 1•94	2•13 1•49	
	INFESTATION	9.94 13.29	3.87 4.91	6.9 8.47	10•09 8•38	
2 2	MINES -1 100 LEAVES	11.10 13.87	4•06 5•20	6.9 8.47	10.09 8.38	
	EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	15.20 18.78	4.06 5.78	8.33 9.83	11.01 8.67	
COTTO STATING	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	171 346	295 346	216 346	218 346	
2 DIM TOT A TOURING	ASPECT		M	N	ß	

9

Tree 2. 7c. Summary for the 2 sample

	INFESTATION + SE.	10.28 11.98 8.58	21.47 < 23.47 19.47	.14.80 16.62	16.67 18.70		INFESTATION + SE.	$11.00 \\ 12.5 \\ 9$	22.5 < 24.58 20.42	14.75 12.97	17.00 × 18.88	
	CE.	1.70	0 • 0	1.82	2•03		E E	د ع ر	2.08	1.78	1.88	
Sample based on 22 twigs of similar length	MINES -1 100 LEAVES	11.20	23.30	14.80	16.97		MINES -1 100 LEAVES	11.75	23.5	14.75	17.25	
	EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	14.10	29.90	19 . 85	21.20		EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	14•50	32.0	20.0	23.50	
	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	45	106	62	70		TOTAL NO. OF ECCS	58	128	ßO	94	
	TOTAL NO. OF MINES	36	62	59	56		TOTAL NO. OF MINES	47	94	59	69	
	LEAVES VITH MINES	3 3.000	77	59	55		LEAVES WITH	44	06	59	68	
	TOTAL NO. LEAVES	321	354	398	300	b. sample size	TOTAL NO. LEAVES	400	400	400	400	
	ASPECT	E	м М	N	S	Table 8 8 Constant	ASPECT	E.	М	N	Ω.	

Augs

4

Table 8. 84. Variation in level of infestation by P. ilicis for tree 3, with aspect.
Table 8 8c. Summary for 2 sample sizes

 ASPECT	E	M	Ν	ß	nan - en el marce de la marce anno anno anno anno anno anno anno ann
TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	321 400	354 400	- 598 400	330 400	with a second
INFESTATION + SE.	11.98-8.58 11.50-8.50	23.47-19.47 24.58-20.42	16.62-13.02 16.53-12.97	18.7 -14.64 18.88-15.12	
S.E.	1.70	2•0 208	1.82 1.78	2.03 1.88	a na manana na manana na manana manana manana manana na manana na manana na manana na manana na manana na manan
INFESTATION	10.28 10.00	21.47 22.50	14 . 80 14.75	16.67 17.00	a be de la companya d
MINES -1 100 LEAVES	11.21 10.75	22.3 23.5	14.80 14.75	16.97 17.25	no al la compañía de
EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	14°1 14.25	29 . 9 31 . 5	19.85 19.75	21•20 21•25	

	INFESTATION + SE.	10.70 < 12.36 9.04	$20.14 < \frac{22.36}{18.10}$	12.14<15.90	$11.27 < \frac{12.97}{9.57}$		INFESTATION + SE.	20.00 < ^{22.00} 18.00	$17.25 < 19.14 \\ 15.36$	23.25 < 25.37 21.13	$24.25 < \frac{26.39}{22.11}$
	े ट्रा रु	° 66	2.18	1.76	1.70		SE.	2 • 00	1 . 89	2•12	2. 4
	MINES -1 100 LEAVES	11.27	21.97	13.29	11.56		MINES -1 100 LEAVES	22.50	18.75	26 . 25	26.75
	EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	14.74	29.77	16.47	13.58		EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	32.50	24.25	39.50	35.50
	TCTAL NO. OF EGGS	51	103	57	47	2	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	130	26	158	142
4 aspect.	TOTAL NO. OF MINES	39	76	46	40	spect for Tree	TCTAL NO. OF MINES	в	52	105	107
<u>ilicis</u> for Tree	LEAVES WITH MINES	37	72	42	39	estation with a	LEAVES WITH MINES	BO	69	93	97
level of <u>P.</u> ple size :-	TOTAL NO. LEAVES	346	346	346	346	I level of inf	TOTAL NO. LEAVES	400	400	400	400
Variation ir Constant sam	ASPECT	[2]	Μ	N	w .	Table 10. Variation ir	ASFECT	[m]	М	Ν	ß

Table 9.

	INFESTATION + SE.	13.66 < 15.64	$11.00 < \frac{12.81}{9.19}$	$10.00 < \frac{11.75}{8.27}$	$10.67 < \frac{12.45}{6.89}$	
4		- 08 - 1	ی ۳	- 73 - 73	1.78	
	MINES -1 100 LEAVES	13.66	11.00	11.00	11.33	
-	EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	17.33	15.33	15.67	13.67	
	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	52	46	747 ·	41	
	TCTAL NO. OF MINES	41	33	33	34	
	LEAVES WITH MINES	41	33	30	32	
	TOTAL NO. LEAVES	300	300	300	300	
	ASPECT	[¹]	M	И	S	

Table 11. Tree 9. Variation in level of infestation with aspect by Phytomyza ilicis

Thus a difference in the level of infestation with aspect was observed for most trees investigated, however no constant trend was observed. Generally maximum infestation was observed for East-facing areas.

4.1.4. Height variation.

Variation in the level of infestation with height was tested for Trees 1, 3 and 10. Itwas difficult to sample trees at heights above 5.5 m, besides any results obtained would be unreliable since branches near the crown of tall trees tend to produce fewer leaves per twig.

For Tree 1, samples of 6 twigs per 50 cm height intervals were taken for each side of the tree. (Table 12). As no significant difference in infestation was found with aspect, the values were bulked and expressed as given in Table 13. A significant difference in total mine number with height was observed. The calculated value for X^{2} was 21.95 which is significant at both 5 and 1% levels (Appendix 2). The highest incidence of mines was observed for the height interval, 100 - 150cm, lowest levels of infestation being associated with branches nearest the ground, and at the crown of the tree (Fig5). A significant difference for bulked data was observed again at 5 and 1% significant levels, for egg data (Appendix 2). However although the number of twigs sampled was constant, the total number of leaves varied. Thus although a difference was observed when total mine data was compared with height, when these results were expressed per 100 leaves, little variation was observed.

Since egg distribution was influenced by aspect, tests for significant difference in egg density with both aspect and height were carried out. For the East-facing area of Tree 1, (Appendix 3), a significant difference resulted at 5% level, i.e. calculated X^2 was 15.95 compared with a tabulated value of 9.49. However at the 0 - 50 cm height interval, again leaves were sparse, thus results obtained were erroneous and it is probable that egg-density is independant of height. For other aspects tested significant results were obtained but once more the sample size was inconsistent with regard to the number, hence no conclusions were drawn with regard to significance although from raw data it appears that population density is higher in the 100 - 150 cm interval.

For Tree 3, the problem of varying total leaf number sampled with each height interval was overruled, since a constant sample size of 300 leaves was used (Table 14). X² results for both total mine number and egg-density indicate significant results at both 5 and 1% levels (Appendix 3). For total mine data, highest infestation occurred between intervals 0 - 50 and 200 cms, maximum values peaking at 50 - 100 cm interval. From 300 cms upwards the level of infestation tailed off. Similar trends were observed from egg-density data except that levels remained stationary between 150 and 400 cm dropping rapidly from 400cm upwards. For Tree 6, no variation in total mine data or egg-density was observed with height. (Table 15), (Appendix 3). Tree 1. Height profile based on a sample of 6 twigs of similar length per 50 cm height interval, and also taking into account variation in infestation with aspect. Table 12.

			• Frankfindliger		a and the second second	- vert of the second	the setting of the set						
	INFESTATION	$53.30 < \frac{44.39}{22.27}$	16.20 < 20.50	17.50 -20.97	$11.50 < 14.50 \\ 8.50$	$16.90 < \frac{19.90}{13.90}$		6.32 < 12.21	9.98 < 12.22	18.80 < 22.20	$5.79 < \frac{7.03}{4.50}$	$6.51 < \frac{8.4}{4.62}$	$7.41 < \frac{10.11}{4.51}$
	N N	11.06	4.30	5.47	0.5	3.0	1	5.89	2.29	3.40	1.29	1.89	2,90
	MINES -1 100 LEAVES	33.30	17.37	17.50	11.50	16.90		6.72	9.93	19.55	6.10	6.51	7.41
	EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	38.88	20.27	21.67	17.69	20.40		60.6	10.59	24.81	7.62	6.51	
	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	2	15	26	20	29		23	16	33	25	11	5
	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES WITH MINES	9	12	21	13	24		16	15	25	19	11	9
	TOTAL NO. OF MINES	9	13	21	13	24		17	16	26	20	11	9
	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	18	74	120	113	142		253	151	133	528	169	81
* JT ATMPT	ASPECT WITH HEIGHT	EAST 0-50	50-100	00-150	50-200	00-250	WEST	0-50	50-100	00-150	50-200	00 - 250	50-300

Height pr in infest Table 12. ASPECT WITH ASPECT WITH HEIGHT NORTH	ofile based o ation with as POTAL NC OF LEAVE	n a sample of - pect. C. TOTAL NC SS OF MINES 9	6 twigs of simil . TOTAL NO. . OF LEAVES WITH MINE	ar length per TOTAL NO.	50 cm height interva. EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	H, and also taking ir MINES -1 100 LEAVES	account SE.	variation INFESTATION WITH SE. 14.55.017.61
50-100	5 6) (N	; m	3.03	3.03		2.02 < 0.62
00-150	137	24	M	5	3.65	2.19	25	$2.19 < \frac{3.44}{0.94}$
50-200	1	00 3	Luna romandare	8		11.25	сл 4	, 10.63< ^{13.03} 8.23
00-250	191	۲- ۲-	L	50	12.24	10.56	2.42	$10.65 < \frac{12.98}{8.14}$
50UTH 0-50	129	6	σ	6	26.9	6.97	2.24	$6.97 < \frac{9.21}{4.73}$
50-100	134	22	23	30	22.40	18 . 66	3.26	$17.16 < \frac{20.42}{13.90}$
00-150	£0;	25	2 X	40	38 . 83	24.27	4.1	22.33 < 26.43
50-200	153	4	13		11 . 0C	9.15	2•79	8.50 < ¹¹ .27 5.70
00-250	159		10	13	8 . 18	6.92	1.92	$6.30 < \frac{8.22}{4.48}$
50-300	671	23	21	28	15.64	12.84	2.4	11.73<14.13

profile based on a sample of 6 twigs of similar length ner 50 cm height internal Tree 1. Height

Table 13. Bulked height profile data for Tree 1.

								A REAL PROPERTY AND INCOME.
	الط م	1.28	1.48	1.58	0.9	1.2	6.1	
	INFESTATION WITH SE.	9.22 < 10.50	11.35 < 12.83	14.46~12.62	8.22 < 9.12	$9.82 < 11.02 \\ 8.62 \\ 8.62$	10.38< ^{12.28} 8.43	
	MINES -1 100 LEAVES	10.00	12.45	15.06	8.62	9.98	11.15	
	EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	11.76	13.97	20.68	10.61	11.57	14.43	
_	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	60	64	103	80	73	37	
	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES WITH MINES	47	52	72	62	62	27	
	TOTAL NO. OF MINES	51	57	52	65	63	29	
	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	510	458	498	754	631	260	
	HEIGHT BULKED (oms)	0.50	50.100	100.150	150.200	200.250	250.300	-



gynging (r. 1. er er enner en er	INFESTATION + SE	22.00 <	26.33 < 24.21	23.66	$21.67 < 24.05 \\ 19.29$	19.33 21.61	19.00 21.26	16.00 17.90	$11.33 < 13.16 \\ 9.50$	9.33 < 11.00
-	SE	2.54	2.54	2.45	2 • 38	2.28	2.26	1.90	1.83	1.67
	EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	32.33	43.66	34.66	28 . 00	26.00	26.33	22.66	23.00	11.67
	MINES -1 100 LEAVES	23.67	28 . 67	25.33	22.53	19.67	20.30	17.33	11.67	9.33
	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	57	131	104	84	78	62	63	69	35
	TOTAL NO. OF MINES	71	86	76	67	59	61	52	35	58
	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	66	79	12	65	58	57	48	34	28
	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	300	300	300	300	300	300	300	300	300
TTOTA AUSTAN	(cms)	0-20	50-100	100-150	150-200	200-250	250-300	300-350	350-400	400-450

Table 14 Height profile for Tree 3.

- - - -	NO	67	61	86	46							
	INFESTATI + SE.	29.33-21.	30 . 39 . 21.	26.14-18.	33-54-24.		HEIGHT	МОЛ	MIDDLE	HIGH		
because leaves above this level very sparse hence estimates inaccurate	.ES	4.33	4.39	4.14	4•54		INFESTATION + SE.	36.57-27.33	30.39-21.61	15.2-8.8.		
inaccurate	EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	40.00	34.00	44•00	44.00		SE	4.67	4.39	3.2		
hence estimates	MINES -1 100 LEAVES	32.00	26.00	33.00	33.00		INFESTATION	32 . 00	26.00	12.00		
tation in level of intestation with netain for the o. Thed to 200 cm level only because leaves above this level very sparse hence estimates inaccurate	OTAL NO. F EGGS	0	4	4	4		EGGS -1 100 LEAVES	56.00	46.00	15.00		
ove this leve	L NO. T EAVES O MINES	4	2	4	4	e 10	MINES -1 100 LEAVES	35.0	31.00	13.00		
e leaves ab	IO. TOTA S. OF L WITH	55	26	29	5	es with tre	TOTAL NO. OF EGGS	56	46	15		
only becaus	TOTAL N OF MINE	32	26	23	33	eight profi	ight profil	ight profil(OTAL NO. JF MINES	55	χ	2
200 cm level	TOTAL NO. OF LEAVES	100	100	100	100	mpling for he	NO. OF LEAVES WITH MINES	32	26	12		
Variauton I Sampled to	HEIGHT (cms)	C~50	50-100	100-200	150200	Table 16a. Initial sa	TCTAL NO. OF LEAVES	100	100	100		

Ę

Table 15. Variation

INFESTATION + SE.	24.33 26.80	$29.66 < \frac{32.30}{27.02}$	$22.00 < \frac{24.39}{19.61}$	22.66 < 25.08	20.33 < 22.63 18.03	12.33 < 14.20	15.00<17.06 12.94	11.00 < 9.19
SE.	2.47	2.64	2.39	2.43	2.30	6 . -	2.06	1.81
EGGS 100 –1 LRAVES	39.67	41.33	33.00	40.67	34•47	18.00	21.00	15.00
MINES 100 -1 1.RAVES	26.33	32.66	26.00	27.67	25.33	13.00	16.67	12.00
TOTAL NO. NO. OF HACS	119	124	100	122	104	54	63	45
TOTAL NO. OF MINES	62	98	78	8	76	62	20	36
NO. OF LEAVES WITTH MINES	73	89	66	68	61	37	45	33
TCTAL NO. OF LEAVES	300	300	300	300	300	300	300	300
HEIGHT (cms)	0-50	50-100	100-150	150-200	200-250	250-300	300-350	350-400

Table 16b. Height profile data for Tree 10.

Tree 10 was very large, three main stems arising from a single rhizome, thus an initial sample was taken (Table 16a). A significant difference was observed (Appendix³) at 1% level using total mine data, lowest levels of infestation being recorded for extreme heights. Results for the main samples are given in Table 16b. Results for egg-density and total mine number were very significant at 1% level, i.e. for mine density the calculated value for X^2 was 53.37 compared with a tabulated value of 18.48 and that for egg-density was 80.45 compared with 18.48 for tabulated values (Appendix 3). Highest values for both egg and mine data were found at 50 - 100 cms. After 250 cms, values for both parameters were reduced considerably.

In summary, it would appear that the level of infestation for <u>Phytomyza</u> is influenced by height, minimum values being recorded from 300 cms upwards.

4.2. Egg distribution and egg mortality.

The frequency of 2 or more mines per leaf was very low for all trees examined (Table 17). For Trees 1,2,4,7,8,9,11,12,13,16, the maximum mine number was 2. Maximum mine number for the remaining trees was 3, but the incidence of 3 mines per leaf was very low in comparison. Where 3 mines were found generally only 1 of these developed successfully to the pupal stage. Usually the second and third mines were empty or contained shrivelled contents, e.g. for Tree 3, 3 mines were found on one leaf. Two were very small hence the larvae had suffered from early mortality factors. The third developed normally but was attacked by birds. On a few occasions 3 pupae were found within a single leaf, although mines were formed on both sides of the leaf to reduce competition for food. It follows that 2 larvae within a leaf will develop more successfully compared with 3. Even so the number of leaves having 2 mines of which only 1 developed normally, was high. For Tree 11, for a sample of 45 leaves where 1 egg had given rise to 1 mine, the number of empty mines and those containing dead larvae was determined, and was found to be 17.78%. A similar estimate for leaves containing 2 mines gave a value of 23.33%. Thus it would appear that competition between several larvae within the leaf reduces the survival of any one.

For egg-density per leaf, maximum numbers observed were 5 per leaf, although the frequency was low i.e. Trees 3,6,9,10,14 and 15. The frequency of viable eggs, i.e. those developing to form visible mines tails off as the number of eggs carried by each leaf increases. Where 5 eggs per leaf were laid, the maximum number surviving to the larval stage was 2. The distribution of <u>Phytomyza</u> eggs for all trees was examined and in every case was found to be clumped (Table 18). Tree 15 had the largest number of leaves with 5 eggs per leaf.







Table

(Tree 1.)	Distribution	of P. ilici	s eggs over	Ilex Aquaf	olium
Frequency					
Eggs	Mines	1	2	3	
1.		248		-	
2.	4999	48	13		· · · ·
3.	-	11	2	· · · · ·	
4.	-	-	2		
5.	1				
(Tree 2.)					
Frequency					
Eggs	Mines	1	2	3	
1.		93	_		
2.		19	3	е — се до на Се — се —	
3.		3	1	÷.	
4.	-	-	-		
5.	-	• • •		. . .	
(Tree 3.)					
Frequency					
Eggs	Mines	1	2	3	
1.		536	-	and	
2.	-	170	24		
3.	-	34	7		
4.	-	8	3	1	
5.	-		2		

(Tree 4)

Frequency

Eggs	Mines	1	2	3
1.		155		•
2.		30	9	-
3.	400 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100 - 100	10	2	
4.		1	1	
5.	6 53	. taa		-

(Tree 5.)

Frequency

			· · · ·		
Eg	g s Mines	1	2		3
1.	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	230	· · · ·	•	iie
2.	•	72	22	•	ie:
3.	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	21	8	(С
4.	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	7	4		2
5.	•	3	-	•	

(Tree 6.)

Eggs	Mines	1	2	3
1.	-	167		-
2.	-	49	14	
3.		8	4	1
4.	-	2		-
5.		-	1	

(Tree 7.)

Frequency

Eggs	Mines	1	2	3
1.	60 0	48		
2.	-	9	1	
3.	-	3		
4.	-	بر معرف المحمد ا		-
5.		-	-	

(Tree 8.)

Frequency

Eggs	Mines	1	2	3
1.	-	45		-
2.	-	17	2	
3.	-	-		
4.	-	1	—	-
5.			-	-

(Tree 9.)

Frequency

Eggs	Mines	1	2	3
1.	-	121		-
2.		36	4	-
3.		7	2	ána,
4.	-	4	2	
5.		1	1	-

Table .17..

(Tree 10.)

Frequency

Eggs	Mines	1	2	3
1.	-	340	-	
2.	-	94	33	-
3.	•	32	20	5
4.		10	6	2
5.	-	1	1	-

(Tree 11.)

Frequency

Eggs	Mines	1	2	3
1.		56	10 	-
2.		11	3	
3.		1		· ·
4.	-		-	
5.	-	-	-	•

(Tree 12.)

Eggs	Mines	1. 1 .	2	3
1.	1	101		- 499
2.	-	37	9	•
3.	1	13	6	
4.	67	2	-	-
5.	89	-		

Table ..17.

(Tree 13.)

Frequency

Eggs	Mines	1	2	3
1.		61		•
2.		14	5	
3.	C 2	1	1	-
4.	-	2		- -
5.			· · · · ·	

(Tree 14.)

Frequency

Eggs	Mines	1.	2	3
1.	470	169	•	-
2.	-	35	8	
3.	a	10	4	-
4.	-	1	1	1
5.		1		

(Tree 15.)

Eggs	Mines	1	2	3
1.		129		-
2.	440	38	10	-
3.	-	10	8 8	1
4.	en	2	2	1
5.		2	-	

Table . 1.7..

(Tree 16.)

Eggs	Mines	1	2	3
1.		45	· · · · · ·	Gin
2.		7	5	
3.	-	2		đơn
4.	482	1	3	-
5.				Ø

	Table .15.
Distribution	
of P	
, ilicis	
eggs	
for	
all	
Trees	
Examined	

											فالبر بندين
Tree 16.		۰ ۲ ۲	0•385	0.226	0	16	6	24	45	311	
Tree 15.	2	2	0.641	0.402	10	20	57	96	129	464	
Tree 14.	2	3	1.04	0.208	5	12	42	98	169	799	
Tree 13.		2	0.237	0.158	ł	ထ	6	38	61	601	
Tree 12.	2	3	0.493	0.309	1	8	60	92	102 -	585	<u>F</u>
Tree 11.	2	2	0.173	0.131	1	4	ł	28	56	586	ι <u>ι</u> ω _W
Tree 10.			0.531	0.314	N	18	57	127	340	2083	UEN
Tree 9.	-		0.383	0.187	N	Ø	14	40	121	1138	
Tree 8.	2		0.227	0.141	0		4	19	45	604	UA1
Tree 7.	3	3	0.299	0.237	0	0	3	10	48	248	0ED
Tree 6.	3	-	0.449	0.32		N	13	63	167	830	
Tree 5.	3		1.93	0.403	Сй L	r V	29	94	230	1146	
Tree 4.	3		0.268	0.186	0	N	12	39	155	1214	
Tree 3.	3	3	0.382	0.257	N	12	44 ×	194	536	3195	
Tree 2.		40 420	0.145	0.108	0	0	4	22	56	1263	
Tree 1.	CLUMPED	S2> x	0,188	0.134	0	N	13	61	248	2786	
					J	4	3	N	e eta,	0	-الدنيفيسور مور
	Distribution	s2: ¥I	S2	MI			Leaf	er Per	sg Numb	E	
			•								

FREQUENCY VALUES

The percentage mortality of eggs for each tree, i.e. (total number of eggs) - (total number of viable mines produced), divided by total egg number was determined (Table 19a). Additional information for egg mortality is given in Table 19b. From Table 196. generally the higher the total number of eggs, the higher the percentage failure rate for egg development to the larval stage. For Table 19b using information for the entire tree, this trend was not so apparent. Maximum egg mortality was observed for Trees 3,5,8,9,10,12, and 15. Minimum egg mortality was observed for Trees 1,2 and 16.

Fig.9 indicates total egg number plotted against total viable mines produced. From regression analysis, values for the straight line equation, y = mx+c were given as $y = 0.73 \times +4.86$, correlation coefficient (r) of 0.9985. When egg mortality per 100 leaves was plotted against egg density per 100 leaves, a straight line graph y = 0.0027x - 0.0081 was found, and r equalled 0.947 (Figl0).

From Fig. 11 percentage egg mortality versus egg number, an r value of 0.31 was observed, which is significant at 5% level of significance only. The values for the straight line equation were y = 0.0098x + 20.17. For a density-dependent relationship to operate, an increase in egg-density should result in a proportional increase in egg mortality. Although this was outlined to some degree in Fig. 11, the fluctuation around mortality values for low levels of egg numbers is too great. When the frequency data for egg numbers ver leaf Table 17, was expressed as % values for total egg density per tree, trees expected to have higher % mortality assuming reduced survival of eggs with increasing number borne per leaf, were Trees 3,5,8,9,10,12, and 15. Those with highest survival were for Trees 1,2,4,6,7,13,14, and 16, (Table 19a) These results were confirmed in Table 20. Thus it appears that egg-density per leaf is important in determining the number of eggs which survived per leaf, hence total viable number for the entire tree. However the relationship between egg mortality and egg-density was assumed to be density - independant.

4.3. Major sources of larval and pupal mortality for P. ilicis.

Egg mortality was observed to range from 8.79% - 32.32% (Table 199). Factors influencing survival of both pupae and larvae within the mine were investigated, and recorded as in Table 21. Each factor was expressed as a % value of the total number of mines recorded for each tree as given. From the point of view of mine mortality major factors influencing the survival of <u>P. ilicis</u> was attack by birds and infestation by the larval paresite, <u>Chrysocharis gemma</u>. A large proportion of mines examined were found to be empty, and these were generally of small diameter, (compare 0.5x0.75 cm with 3.0x1.38 cm for a mine containing <u>F. ilicis</u> pupae). Obviously these eggs had developed to the early larval stage, but reasons for larval mortality were undetermined. Where more than 1 mine was found per leaf it is likely that some factor is operating to ensure the survival of 1 larva at the expence of others, however this does not explain why empty mines were recorded for leaves with only 1 mine.

Table .198

Tree No.	Total No. of Eggs Laid	No. Surviving to produce mines	<u>% Mortality</u> of Eggs
Tree 1.	417	340	18.47
Tree 2.	149	124	16.78
Tree 3.	1105	804	27.24
Tree 4.	277	219	20.93
Tree 5.	571	411	28.02
Tree 6.	345	272	21.16
Tree 7.	77	62	20.83
Tree 8.	99	67	32 .3 2
Tree 9.	262	286	29.01
Tree 10.	847	617	28.15
Tree 11.	88	67	23.86
Tree 12.	262	182	30.53
Tree 13.	113	90	20.35
Tree 14.	314	24 5	21.97
Tree 15.	312	227	27.24
Tree 16.	91	83	8 •7 9

Percentage Mortality of eggs from sampled Trees

Table .1.9b

Estimates of Egg failure to produce viable larvae

(Tree 1.) (Bulked Data)

Eggs Larvae
21.43
16.52
10.45
27.01

Height	Total No. of Eggs	Total No. of Mines	% Failure of Eggs Larvae
0-50cms	60	51	15.00
50-100cms	64	57	10.94
100-50 cms	103	75	27.18
150-200cms	80	65	18.75
200-250 cms	73	63	13.69
200	37	29	21.62

(Tree 2.)

Aspect	Total No. of Eggs	Total No. of Mines	% Failure of Eggs Larvae
East	65	48	26.15
West	20	18	10.00
North	34	29	14.71
South	30	29	3.33

Aspect	Total No. of Eggs	Total No. of Mines	% Failure of Eggs Larvae
East	58	47	18.97
West	128	94	26,56
North	80	59	26.25
South	94	69	26.60

Height	Total No. of Eggs	Total No. of Mines	% Failure of Eggs Larvae
0-50 cms	97	71	26.80
50-100cms	131	86	34.35
100-150cms	104	76	26.92
150-200cms	84	67	20.24
200-250cms	78	59	24.36
250-300cms	79	61	22.78
300-350cms	68	52	23.54
350-400cms	69	35	49.28
400-450cms	35	28	20.00

(Tree 4.)

Aspect	Total No. of Eggs	Total No. of Mines	% Failure of Eggs Larvae
East	51	39	23.53
West	103	76	26.21
North	57	46	19.30
South	47	40	14.89

(Tree 5.)

Aspect	Total No. of Eggs	Total No. of Mines	% Failure of Eggs Larvae
	130	89	31.54
	97	75	22.68
	158	105	3 3•54
	142	107	24.65

(Tree 9.)

Aspect	Total No. of Eggs	Total No. of Mines	% Failure of Eggs Larvae
East	52	41	21.15
West	46	33	28.26
North	47	33	29.79
South	41	34	17.07

(Tree 6.)

Height	Total No. of Egg s	Total No. of Mines	% Failure of Eggs Mines
0-50 cms	40	32	20.00
50 -100cms	34	26	23.53
100-150cms	33	24	27.27
50-200cms	44	33	25.01

(Tree 10.)

Height	Total No. of Eggs	Total No. of Mines	% Failure of Eggs Mines
0-50 cms	119	79	33.61
50-100cms	124	98	20.97
100-150 cms	100	78	22.01
150-200 cms	122	83	31.97
200-250 cms	104	76	26.93
250-300 cms	54	39	27.78
300-350cms	64	50	20.63
350-400cms	45	36	20.00

Egg - frequency data for leaves with 1 and 3 eggs per leaf, expressed as a % of total frequency recordings for all trees.

Tree No.	1 egg per leaf 3 eggs per leaf	
1	59.14	3.11
2	62.42	2.68
3	48.51	3.71
4	55.96	4.33
5	40.28	5.02
6	61.40	3.77
7	62.34	3.90
8	48.45	4.04
.9	46,18	5.34
10	40.14	6.73
14 er 2000 19 er 2000 19 er 2000	63.63	0
12	38.98	22.90
13	53.98	5.31
14	53.82	13.37
15	41.35	18.27
16	49•45	6.59



Fig.10.

Egg mortality per 100 leaves plotted against egg density per 100 leaves.





6.6.

Factors influencing survival of P. ilicis within the leaf are given in Table 21, Figs.12,13,14, and15. With the exception of Trees 6,11,13 and 16, the major cause of mortality within the leaf was attack due to bird-feeding. Attack by birds was most prominent for Trees 2,5,9 and 10, accounting for 70.16, 57.18, 49.46 and 48.62% of total factors respectively,(Fig.13) Trees least affected were 6,7,13,14,15, and 16, where values for bird-pecks were 19.85, 37.10, 24.44, 24.90, 15.86 and 8.44%.

For Tree 6, 37.50% of larvae survived to the pupal stage (Fig.13) Of the remaining factors larval parasitism by <u>Chrysocharis gemma</u> was the most important cause of mortality, and this accounted for 22.06%. Attack by bird-feeding accounted for 19.85%.

For Tree 11, attack on mines by feeding birds, the number of successful larvae surviving to the pupal stage, and the total number of empty mines observed were found to be of equal value when expressed as a percentage of total recordings (Fig.13). They each accounted for 23.88% of total recordings.

For Tree 13, the prominent factor was attack by <u>C. gemma</u>, and this was true for Tree 16. Values observed were 32.22% and 33.73% respectively. Highest larval survival to the pupal stage was observed for Trees 14 and 15, i.e. 57.14 and 33.48%.

From Fig.13, 14, and 15, the variation in importance of each factor with respect to sample trees is outlined. The number of larvae surviving to pupation was under 40% for all sites examined, except for Tree 14, where survival was exceptional, i.e. 57.14%. Trees 1,6,9,15 and 16, had values of 33.30 - 37.50% for larval - pupae survival. Minimum survival due to the influence of other mortality factors was observed for Trees 2,3,10, and 12, where values between 16.48 - 20.16 were recorded. The incidence of <u>C. gemma</u> attacking larval <u>P. ilicis</u> was recorded in Fig.14. The parasite was not recorded for Trees 1 and 2. Maximum incidence was recorded for Trees 13,15, and 16 i.e. 32.22, 31.28 and 33.73% respectively. Larvae least affected by the parasite were from Trees 3,5 and 14, where values of 8.88, 3.72 and 9.00 were recorded.

In relation to other factors influencing survival of <u>P. ilicis</u> within the mine, the number of empty mines recorded were low. Trees where maximum numbers of empty mines were recorded were 13,15 and 16 (Fig.15), where values of 14.44, 16.74 and 20.48 were observed. Mines least affected were for Trees 9 and 10.

The variation in the number of unhealthy <u>P.ilicis</u> larvae extracted from the mines is given in Fig.15, this factor being of least importance. The highest values for unhealthy larvae were recorded for Trees 6,7 and 11, i.e. 6.25, 8.06 and 14.93%.

Chi-square tests for significant differences between trees for bird-pecks, attack by <u>C. gemma</u>, the number of empty mines and successful development to pupal stages were tested. It was thought initially that error would be introduced into the results, since all trees were sampled within a given time period, hence exposure time for the last trees to be examined would be greater, especially with regard to bird-attack.

Table 21.

Factors influencing <u>P. ilicis</u> survival after successful egg development (to the pupal stage).

Mortality Factor		Factor expressed as % of total
Bird peck	175	51.47
Chrysocharis gemma-larval Parasite	0	0
Unhealthy P. ilicis larvae	12	3.52
Empty mines	29	8.53
Larvae surviving to pupal stage.	124	36.47

TREE 1.

Mortality Factor		Factor expressed as % of total
Bird peck	87	70.16
Chrysocharis gemma.	0	0
Unhealthy P. ilicis larvae	3	2.42
Empty mines	9	7.26
Larvae surviving to pupal stage.	25	20.16

TREE 2.

Mortality Factor		Values expressed as % of total.
Bird peck	459	57.38
C. gemma larval parasite	71	8.88
Unhealthy P. ilicis larvae	33	4.13
Empty mines	74	9•25
Larvae surviving to pupal stage.	163	20.38

TREE 3.

Mortality Factor	a Madeen (Alles Conserve) an and Alles Conserve	Factor expressed as % of total
Bird peck	70	33.82
C. gemma	47	22.71
Unhealthy P. ilicis lavae	13	6.28
Empty mines	23	11.11
Larvae surviving to pupal stage	54	26.09

the second s		
Mortality Factor	4.	Factor expressed as % of total
Bird peck	215	57.18
C. gemma	14	3.72
Unhealthy P. ilicis larvae	23	6.12
Empty mines	29	7.71
Larvae to Pupae	95	25.27

Mortality Factor		Factor expressed as % of total
Bird peck	54	19.85
C. gemma	60	22.06
Unhealthy P. ilicis larvae	17	6.25
Empty mines	39	14.34
Larvae surviving to pupae	102	37.50

TREE 6.

TREE 5.

TREE 4.

6		l
Mortality Factor		Factor expressed as % of total
Bird peck	23	37.10
C. gemma	12	19.35
Unhealthy P. ilicis larvae	5	8.06
Empty mines	6	9.68
Larvae surviving to pupal stages	17	27.42

Mortality Factor		Factor expressed as % of total
Bird peck	30	44.78
C. gemma	10	14.93
Unhealthy P. ilicis	2	2.99
Empty mines	8	11.94
Larvae surviving to pupae	17	25.37

Mortality Factors		Factors expressed as % of total
Bird peck	92	49.46
C. gemma	20	10.75
Unhealthy P. ilicis	10	5.38
Empty mines	2	1.075
Larvae surviving to pupae	62	33.33

TREE 8.

TREE 7.

TREE 9.
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Mortality Factor		Factors expressed as % of total
Bird peck	300	48.62
C. gemma	96	15.56
Unhealthy P. ilicis larvae	27	4.38
Empty mines	142	23.01
Larva surviving to pupae	122	19.77

TREE 10.

Mortality Factor		Factors expressed as % of total
Bird peck	16	23.88
C. gemma	9	13.43
Unhealthy P. ilicis larvae	10	14.93
Empty mines	16	23.88
Larvae surviving to pupal stage	16	23.88

TREE 11.

		and a second
Mortality Factor		Factor expressed as % of total
Bird peck	60	32.97
C. gemma	39	21.43
Unhealthy P. ilicis larvae	6	3.29
Empty mines	45	24.73
Larvae to pupal stage	24	26.67

TREE 12.

		• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Mortality Factor		Factor expressed as % of total
Bird peck	22	24.44
C. gemma	29	32.22
Unhealthy P. ilicis larvae	2	2.22
Empty mines	13	14.44
Larvae to pupal stage	24	26.67

TREE 13.

Mortality Factor		Factor expressed as % of total
Bird peck	61	24.90
C. gemma	22	9.00
Unhealthy P. ilicis larvae	2	0.80
Empty mines	20	8.16
Larvae surviving to pupal stage	140	57.14

Mortality Factor		Factor expressed as % of total
Bird peck	36	15.86
C. gemma	71	31.28
Unhealthy P. ilicis larvae	5	2.20
Empty mines	38	16.74
Larvae surviving to pupal stage	76	33.48

.

TREE 14.

TREE 15.

Mortality Factor		Exprressed as % of total
Bird peck	7	8.44
C. gemma	28	33•73
Unhealthy P. ilicis larvae	4	4.82
Empty mines	17	20.48
Larvae surviving to pupal stage.	27	32.53

TREE 16.



FIG. 12

Summary of the factors influencing survival of \underline{P} . ilicis within the mine to the pupal stage, expressed as a histogram.



Sun the	mary mine	of the to th	facto s pups	ors infl al stage	uenci • ext	ing survival of <u>P. ilicis</u> within pressed as a histogram.
0220		••••••	- TT		,	
•						TREE 7.
		. .				
			× .			C. gemma.
	J					P. ilicis larvae (unhealthy).
7						Empty mines.
						P. ilicis pupae.
		l				Bird pecks.
				ann a dh' a dhachar a dhac a dhac an cana ann ann ann ann a	.	
						TREE 8.
						C. gemma.
						P. ilicis larvae (unhealthy).
					n K	Emnty mines
						P. ilicis pupae.
			-1		-	
		·				Bird pecks.
						TREE 9.
٦						C. gemma.
				•	•	P. ilicis larvae (unhealthy).
						Empty mines.
					•	
. ·						<u>P. ilicis</u> pupae.
						Bird pecks.

90 100 % mortality factor. 40 50 60

Summary of the factors influencing survival of \underline{P}_{\bullet} ilicis within the mine to the pupal stage, expressed as a histogram.

TREE 10. C. gemma. P. ilicis larvae (unhealthy). Empty mines. P. ilicis pupae. Bird pecks. TREE 11. C. gemma. P. ilicis larvae (unhealthy). Empty mines. P. ilicis pupae. Bird pecks. TREE 12. C. gemma. P. ilicis larvae (unhealthy). Empty mines. P. ilicis pupae. Bird pecks. 50 60 70 80 90 100 % mortality factor. 10 20 30 40

FIG. 12.

Summary of the factors influencing survival of P. ilicis within the mine to the pupal stage, expressed as a histogram.











Thus these trees would appear to have suffered more merely because they were exposed for a longer period before any measurements were taken. From Fig.13, however this seems unlikely.

The calculated X [~] for variation in bird-feeding between trees was 22.85 (Appendix4). The tabulated value at 5% significance was 25, thus no significant difference between trees was observed. The difference for <u>C. gemma</u> between trees was significant. The calculated X^2 of 32.37 was significant at 1% level. No significant difference between trees with regard to unknown mortality was observed. A calculated value for X² of 17.24 was obtained. Significant differences between trees for larvae to pupae survival was obtained at 5% level i.e. calculated X² of 25.43 compared with tabulated values of 25, although this was insignificant at These calculations were based on Table 22, where 1% level. results were expressed as values per 100 leaves. This method of expression was good for total egg number and mine number data, however since the number of bird-pecks, and attack by larval parasites, depended on the number of eggs surviving to produce mines i.e. total mine number per tree, it was better to express these values as % results for total mine number as in Table21. Where % values were compared, significant differences were obtained for all parameters between trees, and this was assumed to be the most accurate representation of the data.

Larvae surviving to the pupal stage, apart from further attack by feeding birds are liable to attack by pupal parasites. The species of parasites observed during this investigation were Chrysocharis syma and Sphegigaster flavicornis. C. syma was found from the mature larval stage to the adult stage only. S. flavicornis was recorded from the mature - prepupal stage. A detailed discussion will be given later.

A summary for parasite species and numbers of individual parasites recorded for each tree is given in Table23, together with values for non-parasitised pupae. Each figure is expressed as a % of the total recordings. The variation in the extent of attack by each species for the trees examined is given in Fig.16. <u>C. syma</u> is the most important pupal parasite and was recorded from all trees. Highest figures for parasitism by this species was for Trees 4 and 6, where values of 55.56 and 56.86 were obtained. Lowest incidence was observed for Trees 1, 7 and 8, % parasitism being 4.03, 11.76 and 5.8% respectively. The % parasitism by <u>Sphegigaster flavicornis</u> fluctuated between trees, having least effect on pupae extracted for Trees 1,14,15 and 16. Highest levels of attack were recorded for Trees 1,2,3,5,6,7,14,15 and 16 % pupal parasitism recorded for Trees 1,2,3,5,6,7,14,15 and 16 fell between 0 - 50%. Values between 50% and 82%, were observed for remaining trees. Differences between trees was tested using \mathbf{X}^{k} tests and significant differences were observed at 1% level.

A summary of % pupae resisting parasitism is outlined in Table 23. Healthiest pupae were recorded from Trees 1,2,7 and 8, least pupal survival being observed from Trees 4,6,9,10 and 11.

	delige and the second		Charles of the local division of the local d		etter non-				CALL NO.		and the second second					and the state of the	wanod
16.	-1 5	14.	2 X 0	N v		10.	9	8	-1	6	у	4.	Ş.	N •			Tree No.
20,84	40 . 21	28,21	-5 83	30 . 93	13.06	31.37	18.71	14.08	23.70	32.06	33°24	18,58	25.70	10.77	13.42	100 Leaves	Eggs per
20.65	29.25	22.01	12.61	21.49	9.94	22.37	13.29	9.53	19.08	25.28	23.92	14 .69	18.60	96°8	10.94	100 Leaves	Mines per
1.74	4.64	5.48	3°08	7.08	2.37		6 . 57	4.27	7.08	5.02	12.51	4.69	10.67	6.29	5.63	per 100 Leaves	Bird-Pecks
6.97	9.15	1.98	4.06	4.60	1.34	3•55	1.43	1.42	3.69	5•58	0.815	3.15	1.65	0	0	100 Leaves	C. memma per
 4.22	4.90	1.0	1.82	5.31	2.37	5.26	0.14	1.14	1.85	3.62	1.69	1.54	1.72	0.650	0.93	100 Leaves	Fmntvninener
 6.72	9.79	12.25	3.36	3•54	2.37	4.52	4.43	2.42	5.23	9.48	ড় • 5 স	3.62	3.79	1.81	5. 99	per 100 Leaves	I lamzae Dinae

Summary Sheet for Trees sampled 1 - 16

Table & R.

Parasites		Expressed as % of total
Chrysocharis	5	4.03
Sphegigaster F lavicornis	4	3.23
Unidentified parasites	3	2.42
Non-parasitized pupae	112	90.32

Summary for parasite species and numbers attacking P. ilicis pupae.

Parasites		Expressed as % of total
Chrysocharis	7	28.00
Sphegigaster Flavicornis	2	8.00
Unidentified parasites	0	0
Non-parasitized pupae	16	64.00

TREE 1.

η	Ŕ	TH	2	
7	10	فدفك	~	¢

Parasites		Expressed as % of total
C. syma	45	27.61
S. <i>F</i> lavicornis	14	
Unidentified Parasites	3	1.84
Non- parasitized pupae	1 01	61.96

Parasites		Expressed as % of total
C. syma	30	55.50
S. Flavicornis	10	18.52
Unidentified Parasites	3	7.41
Non parasitized pupae	10	18.52

TREE 3.

		l
Parasites		Expressed as % of total
C. suma	26	27.37
S. <i>F</i> lavicornis	20	21.05
Unidentified parasites	0	0
Non- parasitized pupae	49	51.58



Parasites		Expressed as % of total		
C. syma	58	56 , 86		
S. Flavicornis	26	25.49		
Unidentified parasites				
Non- parasitized pupae	18	17.65		

TREE 5.

TREE 6.

		•
Parasites		Expressed as % of leaf total
C. syma	2	11.76
S. Flavicornis	2	11.76
Unidentified parasites	-	
Non-parasitized pupae	13	76.47

Parasites		Expressed as % of leaf total
C. syma	1 (2)	5.8 (11.6)
S. Flavicornis	1 (2)	5.8 (11.6)
Unidentified parasites	0	0
Non-parasitized pupae	15	88.24

TREE 7.

24

16

0

22

Parasites

.C. syma

pupae

S. Flavicornins

Non-parasitized

Unidentified

parasites

• ·

Expressed as % of ; total

88.70

25.80

35.48

0.

	~
1111212121	- C J
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
- I I I I I I I I	- i) e
	~ •

Parasites		Expressed as % of total
C. syma	14	40.20
S. Flavicornis	30	29.41
Unidentified parasites	2	1.96
Non-parasitized pupae	29	28.43

TREE 9.

Parasites		Expressed as % of total
C. syma	6	37.50
S. Flavicornis	5	31.25
Unidentified parasites	-	
Non-parasitized pupae	5	31.25

TREE 10.

Parasites		Expressed as % of total
C. syma	14	46.67
S. Flavicornis	5	16.67
Unidentified parasites	-	
Non-parasitized pupae	11	36.67

TREE 11.

TREE 12.

Parasites		Expressed as % of total	Parasites		Expressed as % of total
C. syma	9	37.50	C. syma	57	40.71
S. Flavicornis	4	16.67	S. f lavicornis	25	1.79
Unidentified parasites			Unidentified parasites	-0	
Non-parasitized pupae	11	45.80	Non-parasitized pupae	58	41.43

TREE 13.

TREE 14.

Parasites		Expressed as % of total	Parasites		Expressed as % of total
C. syma	33	43.42	C. syma	12	44.44
S. Flavicornis	2	2.63	S. Flavicornis	1	3.70
Unidentified parasites			Unidentified parasites	-	
Non-parasitized pupae	41	53•95	Non-parasitized pupae	14	51.85

TREE 15.

TREE 16.



Thus sumarizing for all information obtained, and taking total egg number as estimates of population density per tree, for Tree 1 for 100 eggs originally laid :-

- 1. 18.47 succumbed to egg mortality.
- 2. 41.97 were eaten by birds.
- 3. 9.83 died due to unknown causes.
- 4. 2.88 were killed by pupal parasites.
- 5. 26.86 were assumed to emerge successfully.

Similar data was obtained for other study trees and summarized in Table 24. Hence after all mortality factors have been accounted for, those pupae unaffected could be assumed to emerge successfully. This assumption may over estimate emergence since it is possible that further mortality will be encured especially by bird-attack. Values obtained for trees studied later in the sampling program were more accurate since P. ilicis had begun to emerge and actual values were recorded and used in comparisons. For most trees sampling was completed before adult emergence, hence ideally, later samples for all trees should have been taken, but due to a time restriction this was not feasible. The final sample was taken for Tree 14 on 17.7.78, and at this point 46 from a possible 58 pupae emerged, and 3 of the remaining pupae were dead. According to Miall and Taylor (1908), adult <u>Phytomyza</u> were abundant throughout June thus it is difficult to postulate whether remaining pupae are later in development because of the less favourable climate experienced in Northern areas when compared with sites studied by the forementioned workers, or whether these pupae are unhealthy hence will fail to complete development regardless. Adults were recorded for Trees 12,14,15, and 16, i.e. from 12.7.78 onwards. The actual recordings for emergence are given in Table 24 Thus by comparing the values for assumed P. ilicis emergence, after all mortality factors have operated, excluding Tree 1, the values range between 3.42 and 18.47%, a significant difference at both 5% and 1% levels existing. Most flies were assumed to emerge from Trees 1,7, and 14, thus for Tree 1 even though infestation was low, the number of successful emerging adults was the highest.

Table

SUMPARY OF FACTOR INFLUENCING THE LURVIVAL OF 100 EGGS OF P.ILICIS SAMPLED PER TREE

	G RTALITY	TEN BY BIRDS	ED DUE TO KNCAN	LLED BY RVAL RVAL	lled BY PAL RASITES	OSE SUVED TO ERGE	TUAL CORDINGS CORDINGS DATE OF MPLING FOR FOR
TREE No.	요일	শ্রি	A B O	PAL KI	KI PA		A TRAC
1	18.47	41.97	9.83	0	2.88	26.86	
2	16.78	58.39	8,05	0	6.04	10.74	#
3	27.24	41.54	9.68	6.43	5.61	9.14	
4	20.93	25.27	13.00	16.97	15,88	3.61	
5	28.02	37.65	9.11	2.45	8.06	8.58	
6	21.16	15.65	16.23	17.39	24.35	5.22	
7	20.83	29.87	14.29	15.58	5.19	16.88	
8	32.32	30.30	10.10	10,10	2.02	15.15	
9	29.01	35.11	4.58	7.63	15.27	8.40	840
10	28.15	35 . 42	19.95	11.33	8.62	3.42	and a state of the state of th
11	23.86	18,18	29.55	1.02	12.50	5.62	ali in the second s Second second
12 .	30.53	22.90	1.91	14.89	7.25	4.20	4.00 12/7/78
13	20.53	19.47	13.27	25.56	11.50	9.73	
.1.4	21.97	19.43	7.01	7.01	26.11	18.47	14.33 17/7/78
15	27.24	11.54	13.78	22.76	11.22	13.14	4.49 13/7/78
16	8.79	7.69	23.08	30.77	14.39	15.38	2.02 13/7/78
						~	

4.4. Leaf section results.

The results of various parameters - leaf length, width, and leaf thickness, measured at three sites a,b, and c on the leaf corresponding to the midrib and two points either side of the midrib, within the leaf blade is given in Table 25 . These points corresponded to egg-laying sites and areas where leaf piercing was common. Measurements for cuticle thickness at these sites for both the upper and lower epidermis is also given in Table25. All measurements are in mm, and the leaves were sampled from the same trees. Fig.18 indicates leaf length plotted against leaf width. . These were significantly correlated i.e. r = 0.9181. The straight line equation obtained was y = 0.67x - 2.5. For leaf thickness measurements taken in the leaf blade plotted against leaf length (Fig.19), a significant correlation was obtained. Values for the straight line equation were y = 128.14x - 6.64, when r = 0.51. For leaf thickness measured across the midrib, the straight line equation obtained was y = 58.36x - 7.48, with r = 0.78. Thus it would appear that leaf length and midrib thickness are more strongly associated. When leaf thickness was plotted against leaf width, r was 0.52 for measurements of leaf thickness taken within the leaf blade. and r was 0.67 when measured at the midrib. Values for the straight line equation obtained were y = 120x - 14.48 and y = 36.77x - 5.81 respectively (Fig 20). Leaf length was plotted against cuticle thickness at the three sites for both the upper and lower epidermis (Fig.21,22), (Table25.) The mean values for cuticle thickness at the midrib for the upper and lower epidermis using the range of leaves provided in Table 25were compared. The mean values were equivalent, and any differences in individual recordings were insignificant. Thus an r value for leaf length plotted against cuticle thickness for the upper epidermis only was obtained. Leaf length and cuticle thickness at both the midrib and within the leaf were not significantly correlated. The r value for cuticle thickness at the midrib against leaf length was 0.301. An r value of 0.08 was obtained for cuticle thickness within the leaf blade plotted against leaf length (Fig. 23)... Where leaf thickness was plotted against cuticle thickness at the midrib, an insignificant result was obtained i.e. r = 0.108 (Fig. 24). Thus for the size range of leaves sampled, leaf size and leaf thickness were found to be significantly correlated, whilst cuticle thickness is independant of leaf size despite the trend of increasing cuticle thickness with leaf size as indicated in Figs.21,22,23,24.

Leaves of the current seasons growth were collected on 22.6.78, when leaf expansion was on the increase. Leaf measurements were obtained as described earlier. Results for leaf length, width, leaf thickness measured at the three forementioned sites, and cuticle thickness for the upper epidermis only are given in Table 26. The values for sites a and c were bulked and the mean values obtained. For group 1, it was difficult to measure the cuticle thickness since the leaves were young and fragile and all differentiation was in the early stages. Five leaves were sampled per group and mean values obtained. From Table 26, as leaf size increases the leaf expands and the cuticle thickness increases both in the leaf blade and across the midrib. Fig.25 indicates how the cuticle developes with increase in age and size.





Section taken across leaf.















Fig23 Cuticle thickness plotted against leaf length(blade)



Fig. 24. Leaf thickness plotted against cuticle thickness. (across midrib).

Leaf	
Blade,	
Midrib	
and	
Cuticle	
Thickness (
Measuremer	
nt in	
IDI	

Leaf Thickness

Cuticle Thickness

Width 30 18 54 40 25 33 30 29 28 6 44 47 82 30 38 82 ၂စ 0.9 0.7 0.84 0.96 0.96 0.86 0.86 1.22 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.30 1.16 1.32 1.16 ١œ 0.4 0.4 0.50 0.54 0.54 0.54 0.56 0.50 0.44 0.42 0.4 10 ab 1.25×10^{-2} 1.38×10^{-2} 1.0×10^{-2} 1.25×10^{-2} 1.25×10^{-2} 1.25×10^{-2} 5×10^{-3} 1.25×10^{-2} 7.5×10^{-2} 1.25×10^{-2} 1×10^{-2} 1.25×10^{-2} 1×10^{-2} $1.5 \times ^{-2}$ 1×10^{-2} 1.63^{-2} 7.5×10^{-3} 8.8^{-3} 7.5×10^{-2} 1.25^{-2} 1.25^{-2} 1.25^{-2} 1.25^{-2} 1.5^{-2} 1.25^{-2} 1.25^{-2} 1.25^{-3} 1.25^{-2} 1.8^{-2} 1.25^{-2} 1.8^{-2} 1.25^{-2} Upper Epidermis 1.5x10-3 7.5x10-3 7.5x10-3 1.13-2 1.0-2 1.0-2 1.0-2 1.0-2 1.0-2 1.0-2 1.0-2 1.0-2 1.0-2 1.0-2 1.0-2 1.0-2 1.0-2 1x10⁻² 1x10-2 a 1.25x10-2 1.0x10-2 1.0x10-2 1.0x10-2 1.25x10-2 1.25-2 1.25-2 1.25-2 1.25-2 1.25-2 1.25-2 1.25-2 1.25-2 1.25-2 1.25-2 1.25-2 1.13-2 1.25-3 <u>b</u> 1.25x10⁻² 1.25x10⁻² 1.25x10⁻² 1.25x10⁻² 1.25x10⁻² 1.25x10⁻² 1.25⁻² Lower Epidermis e 1.25x10⁻² 1.25x10⁻² 1.0x10⁻² 1.0x10⁻² 1.0⁻² 1.0⁻² 1.0⁻² 1.0⁻² 1.0⁻² 1.0⁻² 1.0⁻² 1.25⁻³ 1.25⁻² 1.25⁻² 1.25⁻² 1.25⁻²

Table 25.

69

5

8

70

99.

52

57

55

77

64

Continued

Leaf Thickness

Cuticle Thickness

					Upper Epide	rmis	Lowe	er Epidermis	-
Width	 0 0	lo,	10	[0]	la,	0	10	la	10
55	0.56	1.28	0.56	1.0-2	1.88-2	1.25-2	1.25-2	1.8-2	1.0-2
44	0.48	1.09	0.5	1.25-2	1.8-2	10-2	1.25-2	1.25-2	1.0-2
15	0.42	0.68	0.42	0.0075	8.75x10	·3 8.75x10-3	1.125x10-2	1.5x10 ⁻²	0.01
15	0.48	1.10	0.70	0.01	0.01	0.0125	0.01	0.01	0,0125
17	0.44	0.68	0.38	0.01	0.01	0.0138	0.0125	0.0075	0.0125
10	0.34	0.64	0.26	0.0075	0.0075	0.01	0.0125	0.005	0.0015
10	0.38	0.54	0.38	0.01	0.015	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.015
20	0.28	0.530	0.28	0.0025	0.0113	0.015	0.0125	0.0075	0.0125
20	0.4	1.10	0.44	0.0125	0.015	0.0150	0.0175	0.0125	0.0125
28	0.36	0.70	0.40	0.0125	0.0125	0.01	0.0125	600*0	0.010
25	0.36	0.68	0.36	0.0125	0.015	0.0125	0.0125	0.01	0.01
15	0.42	0.88	0.54	0.01	0.01	0.015	0.0138	0.0125	0.01
	Vidth 15 10 20 20 15	Width # 55 0.56 44 0.48 15 0.42 16 0.48 17 0.48 10 0.48 20 0.48 20 0.38 20 0.38 20 0.42 10 0.38 20 0.42 10 0.36 20 0.42 20 0.42 20 0.42 20 0.42 20 0.42 20 0.42 20 0.42 20 0.42 20 0.42 20 0.42	Width a b 550.561.28440.481.09150.420.68170.481.09100.481.10100.380.42200.280.54200.41.10200.41.10200.41.10200.41.10200.41.10200.40.530210.360.70250.420.88	Width \underline{a} \underline{b} \underline{c} 550.561.280.56440.481.090.5150.420.680.42170.481.100.70160.340.680.42100.380.540.38200.420.680.38200.420.690.28200.441.100.70200.441.100.26200.441.100.28200.441.100.44200.450.420.40200.440.5300.28200.441.100.44200.450.400.40200.420.480.5300.42200.420.420.400.40	Width \underline{a} \underline{b} \underline{c} \underline{a} 55 0.56 1.28 0.56 1.0^{-2} 44 0.48 1.09 0.5 1.25^{-2} 15 0.42 0.68 0.42 0.0075 17 0.44 0.68 0.42 0.0075 10 0.34 0.64 0.26 0.0075 20 0.28 0.54 0.28 0.01 20 0.44 1.10 0.28 0.0025 20 0.44 1.10 0.44 0.0125 20 0.44 0.530 0.28 0.0015 20 0.44 0.530 0.28 0.0025 20 0.44 0.530 0.28 0.0025 21 0.36 0.70 0.40 0.0125 25 0.36 0.68 0.54 0.0125 15 0.42 0.88 0.54 0.0125	Widthabcab55 0.56 1.28 0.56 1.0^{-2} 1.88^{-2} 44 0.48 1.09 0.5 1.25^{-2} 1.88^{-2} 15 0.42 0.68 0.42 0.0075 8.75×10^{-1} 17 0.44 0.68 0.42 0.0075 8.75×10^{-1} 10 0.34 0.64 0.26 0.0075 0.011 10 0.38 0.54 0.26 0.0075 0.0075 20 0.28 0.550 0.28 0.0125 0.0113 20 0.36 0.42 0.40 0.0125 0.0125 20 0.44 1.10 0.44 0.0125 0.0115 20 0.36 0.70 0.40 0.0125 0.0125 21 0.36 0.66 0.36 0.0125 0.0125 25 0.42 0.88 0.54 0.01 0.01	Width \underline{a} \underline{b} \underline{c} \underline{a} \underline{b} \underline{c} 55 3.56 1.28 0.56 1.0^2 1.88^2 1.25^2 44 0.48 1.09 0.5 1.25^2 1.88^2 1.25^2 15 0.42 0.68 0.42 0.0075 8.75×10^{-2} 1.8^2 17 0.44 0.68 0.42 0.01 0.01 0.0125 10 0.34 0.64 0.26 0.0075 0.015 0.013 20 0.28 0.530 0.28 0.0125 0.0113 0.015 20 0.36 0.70 0.44 0.0125 0.015 0.015 20 0.36 0.70 0.44 0.0125 0.015 0.015 20 0.36 0.70 0.42 0.0125 0.015 0.015 21 0.36 0.70 0.40 0.0125 0.0125 0.0125 25 0.36 0.68 0.54 0.01 0.015 0.015 15 0.42 0.88 0.54 0.01 0.01 0.015	Viath \underline{a} \underline{b} \underline{c} \underline{a} \underline{c} \underline{a} \underline{a} \underline{a} \underline{c} \underline{a} \underline{c} \underline{a} <	W14th a b c a b c a b c a b c a b c a b c a b c a b a

Table 25.

Sample Group ends 0 -\$ • Ś 5 <u>x leaf</u> Length (mm) 28.30 47.40 55.20 74.50 61.33 x Leaf Width (mm) 16.25 29.75 37.50 40.00 10.25 • 34 0.30 0.32 0.28 0.22 0.2 100 Leaf Thickness 1.02 0.86 Midrib 0.86 1.0 0.72 0.72 0.36 0.34 0.30 0.32 0.26 0.2 10 0.006 0°03 0.004 0.004 0.0012 0.0008 Ιø Upper Epide(m/s Cuticle Thickness 0.005 0.005 0.005 0.01 0.003 0.003 SCIENCE OTANY 1982 Section Library

Table .20

101



Cuticle development with increased leaf size (mag × 450)

GROUP 2



GROUP 5



GROUP 6.

Comparisons of new leaf cuticle thickness at the midrib with cuticle thickness at the midrib for the previous seasons growth gave a significant difference in values even at 1% level of significance (t - 5.5). Thus new leaf tissue offers less resistance to penetrating organisms, hence they are more prone to attack compared with older leaves, for which the defence barrier is more developed.

Early in the investigation it was hypothesized that leaf cuticle thickness may influence the rate of infestation of individual trees by <u>P. ilicis</u>, since thinner leaves are more easily penetrated. by the ovipositor. This hypothesis was investigated, but since leaf size and thickness have been shown to be correlated, leaves used in comparisons between trees were of a similar size to reduce error. Mean leaf thickness of mined leaves were compared with the thickness of unmined leaves, (Table27). These results were related to estimates for population density of <u>P. ilicis</u> per tree using egg number per 100 leaves.

When leaf thickness for the two sets of leaves (Table 27), were compared using a 2 x 2 contingency test, results obtained proved that the observed differences in leaf thickness for mined and unmined leaves was insignificant. Thus the choice of leaf for oviposition and ultimately the overall rate of infestation was independent of leaf thickness.

The values for the cuticle thickness measured at three points compared with values for population density are given in Table28 for the upper epidermis only. The values obtained at a and c were bulked and mean values used.

From Table 28. trees with lowest population densities were Trees 1,2,8,11 and 13. For Tree 1,2 and 11 the values for cuticle thickness were high thus infestation would be excected to be lower in these cases since a developed cuticle will impede oviposition. For Tree 13, cuticle thickness was very low hence egg density was expected to be higher. For high population densities i.e. Trees 5,6 and 15, the values for cuticle thickness were high. In these cases following a similar argument, infestation was expected to be lower, since a thicker cuticle was assumed to impede egg laying by adult Phytomyza . When cuticle thickness and population density were tested, again using a 2 x 2 contingency test, results obtained were insignificant. Thus it would appear that the intensity of infestation is independent of cuticle thickness. However it is obvious that cuticle thickness is important in egg laying since only new growth is infested. Hence it is probable that differences in the cuticle thickness for individual leaves on the sample trees do not impede oviposition by adult leaf miners, providing the cuticle is below the critical level. All measurements concerning leaf data was carried out on infested leaves of the 1977 season, hence it would have been useful, time provided, to follow the increase in cuticle thickness of the new season's growth to determine the critical cuticle thickness preventing further egg Also comparisons between population density and leaf laying. parameters are more meaningful at the begining of the season where error between trees due to possible differences in rates of development are minimal.

Table 27.

T re e No.	$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ Leaf t wit	hickness h Mines	s of leaves (mm)	x Leaf th with	ickness o out Mines	f leaves (mm)	Eggs per 100 Leaves
	a	Ъ	С	a	Ъ	C	
2.	0.55	1.32	0,50	0.47	1.28	0.46	10.77
3.	0.43	1.12	0.45	0.43	1.07	0.42	25.70
4.	0.46	1.07	0.41	0.41	1.10	0.41	18,58
5.	0.39	1.10	0.41	0.39	0.96	0.4	33.24
6.	0.39	1.24	0.41	0.43	1.17	0.43	32.06
7.	0,36	1.13	0.41	0.45	1.15	0.44	23.70
8.	0.37	1.01	0.37	0.37	1.01	0.33	14.08
9.	0.51	1.12	0.52	0.46	1.03	0.44	18.71
10.	0 °3 5	0.97	0.35	0.42	1.08	0.43	31.37
11.	0.49	1.0	0.42	0.49	1.10	0.49	13.06
12。	0.42	1.08	0.46	0.40	1.05	0.40	30.93
13.	0.43	1.03	0.45	0.37	0.93	0.41	15.83
14.	0.39	0.96	0.41	0.40	0.95	0.4	28.21
15.	0.39	0 .98	0.38	0.38	0.95	0.32	40.21
16.	0.41	1.06	0.39	0.35	1.00	0.38	20.89

Results for leaf thickness between mined and unmined leaves
Table 28.

<u>Results</u>	for cuticle	thickness	measured at	the midrib	for Trees
		<u>1 – 16</u>			
		$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ Cuticle	thickness		
Eggs per 100	leaves	Ъ	a		Tree No.
13.42		0.015	0.008		1。
10.77		0.013	0.008		2.
25.70	с. Х	0.01	0.006		3.
18,5 8		0.013	0.01		4.
33.24		0.015	0.008		5.
32.06		0.015	0.009		6.
23.70		0.008	0.006		7.
14.08		0.011	0.008		8.
18.71		0.013	0.008		9.
31.37		0.013	0.008		10.
13.06		0.013	0.008		11.
- 30.93		0.01	0.008		12.
15.83		0.009	0°006		13.
28.21		0.015	0.01		14.
40.21		0.01	0.006		15.
20.89		0.01	0.008		16.

4.5. Life-history of Phytomyza ilicis and its major parasites.

A disgram indicating the life-history of <u>Phytomyca</u> and its parasite is given by Lewis and Taylor (1974). The figure indicates the various developmental stages present in each month for the V.K. To summarize the egg stage for <u>P. ilicis</u> was recorded from early to late sume. The larval stages spanned from the middle of June until the end of March and overlapped with the beginning of the presupel and supel stages. Adult emergence spanned from late May until early July. For the larval parasite Chrysocharis semag, the egg stage spanned from late February until early April, again overlapping with the larval stages which spanned from early harch until early may. The presupal and pupal stages were observed from the middle of April until late June. The adult stage was recorded from June. For Chrysocharis syma, a supal parasite, the egg stage vas recorded from late February until early April. Larvae were observed from rarly Earch until late May. This stage was overlapped by presupal and pupal stages which were recorded from late May until the middle of June. Adult <u>C. syma</u> emerged from mid June onwards.

For <u>Sphegigaster flavicornis</u> also a pupal parasite, egg laying spanned from early to late April. The larval stage was recorded from late April until the end of May. Preoupal and pupal stages spanned from mid May until late July. Adult <u>S. flavicornis</u> were recorded from early June.

Thus the egs stages for <u>Chrysocharis gemma</u> and <u>C</u> syma were approximately in phase, that for <u>Sphegigaster flavicornis</u> being out of phase by one month. <u>P. ilicis</u> was observed to have the longest larval stage, the shortest spanning approximately one month was observed for <u>S. flavicornis</u>. The shortest prepupal to supal stage was observed for <u>C. syma</u>, again spanning approximately one month.

Prom the beginning of this sampling program April 24th, 1978, F. ilicit was at the pupal stage. The pupae were pale orange, between 2.6 to 2.9 mm, and body segmentation within the pupae as in the early stages of development. As the pupae developed they darkened to a brown colouration. Lature larvae were also observed, but these were always shrivelted and dead. The first recordings of adult emergence was 2nd June, 1978, where 7 from 49 pupae had emerged. By the time sampling was completed 17th July, 1978, 45 from 118 adult Phytomyza had emerged. C. gemma was observed at the prepupal to adult stages, while C. syma was observed from data obtained from mine examinations, the species was observed from the mature larvae to propoal stages. However a few adults were extracted from suction-traps but were not recorded until early duty.

The developmental stages for P. ilicis and its three main paraeite species is given in Fig. 30-37.

Fig.26 T.S.Leaf-section taken across the mine caused by burrowing P.ilicis.larva.

(mag × 180)

a.Across the midrib.



b.Within the leaf lamina.





V SHAPE PECK MARK WITHIN THE MINE CAUSED BY FEEDING BIRDS.







alar kolonik pili ana mirakan tarik



Fig 32. Developmental stages for <u>C. syma</u> (magx100)

a) PREPUPA



b) Pupa













F.19 37

ADULT CHRYSOCHARIS GEMMA.

For Tree 2 examined on 15.5.78; C. symmetics at the motufe larval stage cluboughta few prepupae had been recorded.

Tree 3 was examined on 16.5.78, 8.6.78, 14.6.78 and finally 22.6.78. From 16.5.78 <u>C. gemma</u> was at the pupel stage. Prepupae of <u>S. flavicornis</u> were recorded but from later samples then 8.6.78. By 14.6.73, <u>P. ilicis</u> nad begun to emerge, togethe with <u>C. gemma</u>, but a larger proportion of both <u>P. ilicis</u> papae and the larval parasite pupae still remained within the mine. <u>C. syma</u> was recorded from the mature larval stage onwards, however the former was dominant in samples. 3 adult <u>Phytomyca</u> with the characteristic black head and brown segmented abdomen were obtained from 22.6.78 samples. 5 adult <u>C. syma</u> ware observefrom the same sample the thorax was dark fluorescent green, the abdomen being black and flat. Adult <u>C. gemma</u> were also extracted but were easy to distinguish because of thier red-brown fluorescent colour and the thorax and abdomen were smaller and thinner, i.e. body-size 1.7 x 0.6 mm.

Tree 6 was also sampled on 14.6.78. 13% of <u>C. gemma</u> had emerged. <u>C. cyra</u> supel stage was dominant in samples although mature larvae and prepupae were also recorded. Thus a variation in the rate of 3evelopment between trees was found.

Tree 10 was sampled on 29.6.73. P. ilicis within the pupae was well developed. For the sample 0 - 50 cms, 21% of P. ilicis had emerged. C. gemma and C. syma were observed at pupal stages. S. flavicornis was recorded at the mature larval stage but these generally were unhealthy.

Tree 15 was sampled on 13.7.78. 3 adult C. syma were observed to emerge from the pupae, characterized by their body shape and fluorescent green colouration on the thorax. 2 <u>C. gemma</u> adults were observed, again the thorax was thinner and fluorescent brown in comparison with <u>C. syma</u>. 86% of <u>C. gemma</u> had emerged. <u>C. syma</u> was at the pupal stages and <u>S. flavicornis</u> at the prepupal stage.

Measurements of body length and width are given in Table 29, 30, 3 Mean measurements were taken from larvae and precupae extracted from all trees. Enough samples were not collected to make comparis in site between all trees, and those which had been collected had been stored in alcohol before measurement causing distorsion.

From Table 29 there is little variation in the size of <u>P. ilicis</u> pupae with sample tree. It was thought that possible differences in the level of nutrition between trees may influence the size and rate of development of pupae. It was observed that difference in the stage of development existed between trees, but this was more likely to be associated with the time of egg laying than nutritional content of the leaves, i.e. Tree 8, was an unhealthy tree. It was heavily snaded and grew on comparitively unfertile ground. The cuticle in comparison with other trees was thinner and the leaves were dull. However pupae extracted from infested leaves measured 2.94 x 1.24 mm, thus were larger than pupae extract from more healthy hosts. However the size of <u>C. gemma</u>, which atta <u>P. ilicis</u> larvae was small in comparison to other trees. Mine size was correlated with <u>C. gemma</u> pupal size, and a significant r value of 0.36 was obtained. The size of the mine is related to the feeding activity of <u>P. ilicis</u> larva, maximum mine size occuring in March when mature larvae are present.

1

Tree No.	P. ilicis	Pupas
	x Length	Width
1.	2.9	1.23
2.	2.87	1.21
3.	2.82	0 。 95
4.	2.88	1.20
5∘	2.89	1.24
6.	2.75	1.28
7.	2.94	1.20
8.	2.94	1.20
9.	2.9	1.11
10.	2.85	1.20
11.	2.85	1.13
12.	2.65	1.20
13.	2.73	1.22
14.	2,66	1.10
15.	. 2.82	1.24
16.	2.66	1.10

Variation in the size of P. ilicis pupa with Sample Tree

	C. gemma	Pupae
Tree No.	Length	Width
1.	-	
2.	يعتنو	-
3.	2.01	0.62
4.	2.05	0.73
5.	2.08	0.75
6.	2.01	0.70
7.	2.07	0.68
8.	1.63	0.55
9.	2.01	0.69
10.	1.95	0.68
11.	2.11	0.72
12。	2.03	0.67
13.	2.09	0.68
14.		gang
15.	1.6	0.35
16.	2.00	0.6

Variation in the size of C. gemma with Sample Tree

122

Table .31..

	C. syma	Pupae
Tree No.	Length	Width
1.	2.1	0.8
2.	2.0	0.7
3.	2.06	0.8
4.	2.0	0.6
5.	2.2	0 .7
6.	2.16	0.88
7.	2.19	0.95
8.	Not Measured	Not Measured
9.	2.5	1.11
10.	2.2	0.89
11.	2.1	0.96
12.	2.16	0.74
13.	2.1	0.8
14.	2.25	0.85
15.	2.2	0.8
16.	2.66	0.3

Variation in the size of C syma with Sample Tree

Thus it would appear that the size and state of health of <u>P. ilicis</u> larvae influenced the final size of <u>C. gemma</u> pupae. <u>Thus <u>C. gemma</u> from undersized <u>P. ilicis</u> larvae tend to pupate at a lower overall body size compared with those emerging from larger miner larvae. This would suggest timing of pupation rather than final body size is more important. However further work is required before a firm conclusion can be made.</u> Table ... 32.

Mine Size. cm.	C. gemma. mm. Body Length
	x Body Width
1.95 x 2.6	2.5 x 1.0
1.95 x 0.65	1.9 x 0.7
1.3 x 0.975	1.6 x 0.5
2.28 x 1.30	1.7 x 0.6
2.76 x 2.28	1.9×0.7
2.28 x 1.30	2.0×0.7
2.93 x 1.95	2.6 x 1.0
5.9 x 1.30	2.4 x 0.9
0.81 x 0.65	1.4 x 0.3
2.28 x 0.65	2.5 x 0.9
2.11 x 1.79	1.9 x 0.7
2.2 x 0.49	2.0×0.7
3.58 x 2.93	2.5 x 1.0
3.25 x 0.65	2.5 x 0.9
2.28 x 1.63	2.0×0.75
0.975 x 0.65	1.2 x 0.4
2.28 x 0.975	2.0×0.75
2.11 x 1.79	1.9 x 0.6
2.61 x 1.3	2.5 x 1.0
1.79 x 2.925	1.7 x 0.6
1.3 x 0.975	1.6 x 0.5
1.95 x 0.813	1.9 x 0.5
0.975 x 0.975	1.5 x 0.6
2.93 x 2.61	2.5 x 0.9
1.95 x 1.3	1.9 x 0.7
3.9 x 1.3	2.6 x 1.0
1.79 x 2.925	2.5 x 1.0
1.3 x 1.3	1.4 x 0.4
2.925 x 1.3	2.5 x 1.0
2.76 x 1.3	2.3 x 0.9
1.95 x 1.79	1.9 x 0.6
1.95 x 1.63	1.9 x 0.5
1.14 x 0.813	1.5 x 0.5

125.



stra 11-Avic

22

5. Discussion.

A variation in the time of emergence for adult <u>Phytomyza ilicis</u> was observed when compared with accounts given by <u>Miall</u> and Taylor (1907), and Downes (1931), although the general pattern of the life-cycle was fairly consistent with thier account.

In accordance with these authors, adult emergence was maximum during mid June, and flies were observed to be plentiful amongst holly bushes. This however, was never the case during this investigation. Suction-traps positioned within a clump of 3 holly trees failed to collect any adult flies, although a few adults of the pupal parasite, <u>Sphegigaster flavicornis</u> were collected. The flight pattern of adult flies may have influenced whether they were collected in traps, since both adult <u>Chrysocharis gemma</u> and <u>C. syma</u> were observed to hop like flies between leaves when interfered with (Cameron 1939). Thus it is possible that flies avoided these areas above the traps from which samples were extracted. The behaviour of adult <u>P. ilicis</u> was not recorded, hence it is impossible to determine accurately why these adults were absent in samples.

For this investigation P. ilicis adults were first recorded from 2nd June, 1978.A s ample of 49 pupae was collected from which 7 adults had already emerged. However maximum emergence was observed during early July where 45 from a sample of 118 pupae had emerged. Body measurements for adult P. ilicis were 2.1 mm for body length and 0.6 mm for body width. The head was black and the abdomen, consisting of 9 segments was brown. The halteres were white, the thorax, a dark fluorescent green/black colour. The antennae were long and segmented.

Chrysocharis gemma, a larval parasite was extracted from samples taken 16th May, 1978, where the parasite was at the pupal stage of development. The pupae were shiny jet-black and were easily identified since they lay free within the mine. Wing and leg rudiments, eyes, mouth appendages, in addition to thorax and abdominal segmentation were clearly marked. Body measurements gave mean values for body length of between 1.6 - 2.08 mm and 0.35 - 0.75 for body width. Cameron (1939), quotes values of 1.75 -2.60 mm for body length, and 0.65 - 1.04 for body width. Adult C. gemma were first recorded from samples taken on 14.6.78, but most had emerged by 13.7.78. Adult C. gemma were reddish brown in colour which fluoresced under the microscope. The thorax and abdomen were very much thinner than those of C. syma, hence could be distinguished easily. Miall and Taylor (1907), observed that the peak of emergence for this species was the middle of June, although my results suggested peak emergence to be later. for the Durham area.

<u>Chrysocharis</u> syma, a pupal parasite, was recorded at the mature larval stage from samples taken on 15.5.78. The prepupal stage was recorded from late May onwards. <u>C. syma</u> larvae were fat and fusiform in shape, being a greyish white in colour with a central mass of black faeces. Measurements of the mature larvae were inaccurate since the samples had been stored for some time in alcohol prior to measurement. The mean value for body length and width for the mature larvae was 1.86 mm x 0.89 mm. Cameron (1939) quotes values of 2.14 mm x 0.97 mm for body length and width respectively. The prepupal stage was distinctive. This is characterized by broad thoraic segments which are both smooth

and shiny, differing from the prepupae of Sphegigueter for which the segments are narrower and more contracted with deeply rounded sides. The abdomen for C. syma is more bulbous end consists of 10 segments. However identification was not as easy as suggested since the alcohol preservative sgain caused distorsion in the samples. Body measurements for prepupale were 2.06 and x 0.98 mm for body length and width respectively. Values quoted by Cameron are 2.2 mm x 0.84 mm, but he observed that prepupae tended to contract before entering the pupal stage so that the final body measurements were 1.70 x 0.80 mm. C. syma pupae were observed from 14.6.78. These were black and shiny and can be distinguished from other pupal parasites of <u>P. ilicis</u> by the bow-like shape of the body from the wing angle to the posterior segment of the abdomen. Body measurements for C. syma ranged between 2.0 - 2.6 m for length x 0.3 - 1.11 for width, nence were larger than those recorded by Cameron (1939). Adult C. syma were recorded from 13.7.78, thus emergence was later than that given by Cameron. where adults were observed from mid June onwards.

Spherigaster flavicornis was recorded at the prepapal stage from 8.6.78, although mature larvae were also present in the samples. Mature Tarvae were white and contained large brown internal factil handes within. Reasurements of body length were 1.88 and eas 0.85 for body width, compared with 2.1 - 2.3 um x 0.92 - 0.97 um for s values quoted by Cameron. The prepupae of Schegigister are characterized by the antennae of the old larval head, and as mentioned earlier the thoracic segments are more rounded. The pre moal body length was 2.2 mm and that for body width 0.9 mm, again verying from values of 1.95 mm x 0.75 mm given by Cameron (1939). The parasite was at the prepupal stage up to 17.7.78 when the final sample was taken. Cameron (1959), observed that adout emergence occured about the middle of June, the leak being in the latter half of the month. Thus results obtained again differ. Climatic factors probably caused the delay in development observed, since physical factors were far wore extreme compared to Southern areas sampled by Cameron, and many species of insects have been observed to undergo a period of discause associated with extreme weather conditions.

The main problem with the investigation was the sampling method used. The method finally adopted was random and was ultimately distrited by the growth manner of the trees sampled. For the tailer trees it was difficult to sample accurately at the crown and leaves per twig were sparse at these levels anyway. Initially it was decided to compare the rates of infestation within the tree i.s. height and aspect variation by using equal numbers of twigs. However problems were involved with the actual comparisons since. the number of leaves per twig varied considerably (3.1) . Althou values for egg and mine density were expressed per 100 leaves sampled. results were both easier to handle and more accurate when equal numbers of leaves were sampled. For free 1, when 42 twigs were sampled per side, the variation in leaf number was 42 twigs were sampled per side, one carrietten in 1 and 1 and 467 for the East - 1,115 for the West side. Using the smaller but constant sample size similar trends in the level of infrateti were obtained, although the overlap between West and Worth, and East and Southern aspects were more pronounced (Tables 6s and 5b.

by comparisons of values for infestation rates between trees based on 100 and between 325 - 4,300 leaves(Tables 4 and5), the increase in accuracy of estimates is given by the reduced confidence-intervals.

Stokes (1959), decided the optimum sample size was 750 leaves out tree. 800 - 1,000 leaves were considered as the minimal sample size in this investigation as mortality factors affecting 1. ilicit supae were considered. However for most trees the sample size was greater, and again was influenced by the size of the tree (i.e. 325 - 4300leaves).

Librris (1995), distinguishes between various types of population estimates, i.e. absolute estimates, relative estimates and population indices. Absolute estimates are expressed as the number of anisals per unit area. Relative estimates are expressed in unknown units and always depend on factors other than population size. Nonlation indices are estimates of the size of the copulation base on the activity of animals, i.e. the amount of faecal matter produced. Hence for this investigation absolute estimates are sore useful. Morris further divides absolute estimates into absolute population intensity - the number of animals per unit of ground population intensity - the number of animals per unit of substratum and a basic population as a number of animals per unit of substratum and a basic population as a number of the population intensity, which is then converted to an absolute population using information about the size and spatial distribution of the host plants.

During the study, population estimates for <u>P. ilicis</u> were based on total egg number expressed per 100 leaves, since it was impossib to obtain an absolute population as no information on the number of leaves per tree was recorded. Thus a basic population estimate was finally obtained for all trees.

he significant difference was observed in the level of infestation, i.s. lotal number of leaves with mines expressed as a % of total leaf number, although both total egg number and total mine number v ried significantly between trees (4.1.2). Prece least affected were frees 1,2,8 and 13: frees 1 and 2 were most isolated; however when the field population lensity and degree of isolation of trees, from their neighbouring holly trees was investigated, no significant correlation was found. Thus spatial distribution did not appear to influence the density of leaf miners although the more isolated Prees 1 and 2 were lower in total eas density per 100 leaves. to algorithment difference in population density with regard to position whain Hollingside Wood was found despite observed differences discussed in section 4.1.2. Both aspect and height influence the density of total mine and egg numbers (4.1.3). Maximum egg numbers were observed between 100 - 150 cm height interval. Potal numbers recorded for egg density were considerably reduced at heights above 300 cms. The variation in population density with aspect was not so conclusive. Generally higher egg counts per 100 leaves were observed for the East side of the tree. This may have been because lastern areas were more sheltered in terms of wind encourse since they faced into the wood, although information on climatic factors is required before any conclusions enn be drawn.

Since East wides were overshadowed to a greater extent by neighbouring trees, fewer leaves per twig were found, hence it is possible that edult P. Llicia may have laid egrs on leaves In the normal manner, but as fewer host leaves were present, this restricted their ovigosition tota smaller area, thus used more of the leaves on a given twig for oviposition rather than spend a great deal of time searching between leaves. Thus when the samules were collected the population density results obtained would be greater since these results are expressed as egg number per 100 leaves. Hence whether this difference in aspect is real or due to lower leaf number on the East facing side is open to question. It is possible that a larger provortion of young leaves were available at the time of egg laying on the East side, although generally this is unlikely. The biochemical content of leaves may also influence preference for oviposition sites. Different carts of diants and of the same plant under different conditions and at different seasons were observed to vary in their biochemical composition (Southwood 1973). Thus it is likely that the changes observed in the feeding preference of any insect, development rate, fecundity and survival is associated with changes in the proving conditions of hosts plants.

1. 3. 4 4

Stokes (1959), found no variation in infestation with beight or aspects.

Variation in population density with host plants within the same area has been observed for many species of phytophagous insects. Varley and Gredwell (1965), working with Overophtera brazeta L., concluded that variations in the egg population sizes of the winter woth on different oaks within the same area was due to differences in the time of bud break between trees. Each tree began leaf expansion on different dates in each season, according to weather conditions, but it was found that the order of bud break among a group of oaks investigated over several seasons was constant individual trees following each other in a regular sequence from year to year. Askew (1961), gave a similar explanation for differences between individual young oaks, in the populations of galls formed by Neuropterus sp. The time of leaf expansion and ultimately cuticle thickening is important, since the cuticle is the main defence barrier preventing miner attack. This has been indicated in section (4.4). Young leaves could avoid attack either by expanding early in the season thus the outicle may develope so as to act as a more effective barrier. In addition leaves expanding later in the season avoid the weak times for adult P. ilicis emergence, hence are less liable to be infested. It has not been determined whether leaf expansion varied between trees in the samer given by Varley and Gradwell (1965), although it seems feasible that variation in population density may be attributed to the number of host leaves available for attack.

Stokes (1969), suggested that the degree of spatial isolation of individual holly trees was a more important factor. For the Ancient Camp area, estimates of population density varied a great deal between sample trees i.e. 5.2 eggs per 100 leaves - 118.8 eggs per 100 leaves. He found trees with lowest P. ilicis densities were relatively isolated separated from other holly trees by 10 metres or more. Highest er densities were recorded from trees forming part of a clump of closely grouped trees. He suggested that more isolated trees are likely to be reinfected by females emerging from superis derived from even within a clump of trees, eggs may also be laid by females originating from neighbouring nolly trees. Thus clumped trees will have higher values for total egg density since they are exposed to egg laying over a longer period.

In this investigation, the variation in total egg number per 100 leaves between trees was not as marked. Recorded values ranged from 10.77 - 40.21, and no significant difference between conduction estimates and spatial isolation were observed. This may have been been use overall estimates for population density were so low.

Fopulation density is estimated from ego numbers per 100 leaves. Thus it is possible that leaves of some of the trees are more liable to repeated attack by adult miners, hence will carry more eggs per leaf compared to other trees (Table 17).

The variation in egg number per leaf was high. For the majority of cases only one egg was laid per leaf. Increasing the number laid per leaf tended to increase egg mortality, thus reducing the numbers surviving per leaf to produce mines (4.2). The reasons why sure than one eggins laid per leaf are unclear, especially as visolity is reduced with increased egg density. One explanation is that an individual adult after laying an egg in the midrib flies off to another leaf. A second individual may approach the already intested Leaf and lay a accord egg and so forth. However under these circumstances it would be more beneficial for the first adult to leave some type of chemical warning, i.e. pheromone, on the leaf surface as an indication that an ega had been laid, This would reduce competition for both food and space should both leave develop. By avoiding laying more than one egg per leaf in theory, the adult increases the survival of all egys and ensures that the holly does not become damaged to such an extent that would reduce the carvival of future coollations. In several cases where one eye per leaf was laid, small mines devoid of contents were found Death of first instar larvae may have been due to bacterial disease but actual causes are undetermined. Hence it is equally likely that an idividual may lay more than one egg per leaf to ensure the survival of at least one egg. Where two mines cer leaf were observed it was not uncommon for one larvatto develop normally and the other to become stunted and finally die, hence it is also possible that the healthy larva releases a chemical which prevents development of other larvas within the same leaf. Ressons why more than one egg is laid in some leaves and not others is also unchear, but may be related to the nutritional and biochemical content of the tiques. A final explanation could be that the adult P. illeis subfaces for ovisopition sites at random and it is just by chance that more than one egg is laid per leaf, the number havin no overall significance. Cuticle thickness was not found to influe whether some leaves were infested and others not, since no significal difference between mined and unmined leaves? "Hence the ultimate levels of infestation were independent of cuticle thickness.

131.

11 1 M 19 19 19

However leaves are only susceptible to infestation when young and the cuticle is undeveloped (4.4). No difference in cuticle thickness between the lower and upper epidermis was observed. No significant difference in the number of mines found on the upper and lower surfaces of the leaf was also observed i.e 1234 mines on the upper surface compared with 1355 on the lower leaf surface.

For all trees egg distribution was clumped characterised by a variance in excess of the mean. Such clumped distribution are found frequently amongst insect populations (Southwood 1966).

Variation in % egg mortality was found between trees, but no significant difference was observed. Egg mortality incorporates failure of eggs to haten, mortality of young larvae within the midrib, mortality whilst leaving the midrib for the lamina, and finally death within the lamina before a recognisable mine has been produced. Although significant correlations between total egg number and total viable mines produced, and egg mortality cer 100 leaves plotted against egg density per 100 leaves was found, the relationship between % egg mortality and total egg number was insignificant. Hence egg density influences the viability of eggs within the leaf but the relationship between egg mortality and egg density was assumed to be density-independant.

Mortality of larvae within the mines was caused by bird attack, attack by the larval parasite, <u>Chrysocharis gemma</u>, and by an undetermined mortality factor influencing survival in the early stages of development. Generally the major source of mortality was due to bird attack followed by parasite attack. Results between trees were significantly different. Trees 1 and 2 were unaffected by <u>C. gemma.Reasons why the trees escaped infestation</u> are unknown. These trees were the first to be sampled although <u>C. gemma extracted from other trees within the area was at the</u> pupal stage, thus it is unlikely that the parasite was overlooked in the samples. Tree 8 had an equally low population density for <u>P. ilicis but C. gemma was extracted from within the mines</u>.

Bird attack was anobvious mortality factor since the overall sample site was near to the main nesting area for several species of birds, within the University field station. Owen (1975) in his investigation of the efficiency of blue-tits, Farus caeruleus preying on P. ilicis found that attack by birds was influenced by the number of prickles per leaf. Two trees were examined of different phenotypes, Holly 1 averaged 9.4 prickles per leaf, while Holly 2 averaged 1.4 prickles per leaf. He found that Tree 1 was twice as infested as Tree 2, but blue-tits were twice as successful in extracting larvae from the leaves of the latter. The results suggest that the birds were more able to remove larvae from the less prickly phenotype and that prickles to some extent prevented efficient exploitation of P. ilicis. The blue-tits nowever had the same effect overall on the trees, successfully finding 16% of larvae on the leaves of each tree, although there. were twice as many larvae on Tree 1 as Tree 2. He concluded that predation was density-dependent but the reverse of the normal situation where birds take proportionately more of the orcy when it is at high levels compared with low density, and suggested that the tree with more prickly leaves provided a safer enviroment for P. ilicis larvae. During this study variation in the number of leaf prickles and the degree of shinyness of leaves was observed

between some trees, especially at higher elevations, where the number of oricales per leaf tended to be reduced. At these heights infestation by P. ilicis was low. It is possible that few eggs are laid in these leaves because protection from predators is poor. It is equally likely that since the number of leaves at the top of the trees tend to be reduced the amount of useful host material is reduced, thus <u>P. ilicis</u> populations are generally lower compared with other areas. Hence reinfection by previous seasons' adults will be low at these elevations simply because less adults are available. Fig. 39 illustrates the increase in bird attack with total mine number per sample. The straight line graph is typical of a relationship expected from a random search by the birds without searching images being However Tinbergen (1960), suggested that prey species formed. are overlooked by searching birds when available in low numbers. thus the proportion taken will be less than expected on a random As the number of prey increases, encounters with them basis. also increases, and the birds would learn to consentrate on characteristic clues from the prey i.e. a specific searching image is developed. Random search is uncommon since most predators will tend to spend more time in areas where the prey are more numerous. Graph 40 indicates the increase in % bird attack with increasing total mine number. The curve appears to level out at total numbers of 800 mines per sample. Fig. 41 illustrates the increase in mine attack against the total number of viable mines in the sample, again a curved relationship is observed with the curve levelling off above 700 mines per sample. These results suggest that as the total viable mine population increases, the birds learn to search more effectively for the prev. thus increasing the proportion of prey taken as their density increases. The response may level off because of the combined effects of satiation and handling time. Such a response is typical of most vertebrate predators. When the prey density is low the predator will concentrate on other prey or seek areas where the prey density is higher, and this would account for the variation in bird attack between trees.

Chrysocharis syma was the most important pupal parasite and was recorded from all trees (4.3). Trees most infested by the parasite were Trees 4 and 6, where values of 55.56% and 56.86% were obtained. Lowest values for Trees 1, 7 and 8 were found with corresponding values of 4.03, 11.76, and 5.8%. Sphegigaster flavicornis was sparse for all trees, highest levels being recorded from Trees 4,5,6,9,10 and 11. C. gemma accounted for 48.53% of parasites recorded, C. syma 34.01%, S. flavicornis 15.35%, and unidentified parasites accounted for 2.14%. Of pupal parasites only, C. syma accounted for 56.07% and Sphegigaster flavicornis 29.82% whilst unidentified parasites accounted for 4.11%.

During 1937 - 38 Cameron (1939) working in Buckinghamshire, Surrey, New Forest in Hampshire and Forest of Dean in Gloustershire, found the order of abundance of parasites to be a) <u>Chrysocharis</u> gemma, b) <u>Sphegigaster flavicornis</u>, followed very closely and for some areas was superseded by Chrysocharis syma.







He observed that 30 - 40% of fly larvae were found to be attacked by <u>C. gemma</u>, and is in accordance with results obtained in this investigation. <u>C. syma</u> extracted from pupae at Burnham Grove Bucks, were found to range from 0 - 13.8% and is considerably lower than estimates observed for the Durham area. <u>Sphegigaster</u> <u>flavicornis</u> infestation rates varied between 0 - 16.6% and is in accordance with results obtained to date. Obviously the extent of parasite infestation depends on the number of host pupae available but results obtained were conclusive and <u>C. syma</u> was found to be the dominant pupal parasite.

Thus summarizing for the entire sample area, for 100 eggs initially laid :-

- 1. 25.01 suffer from egg mortality.
- 2. 32.03 are attacked by feeding birds.
- 3. 9.91 suffer from larval parasite attack.

4. 3.27 are unhealthy and shrivelled possible due to bacterial infection, or as a result of competition for food where these larvae were extracted from leaves having more than one lime per leaf.

- 5. 9.57 suffered from early mortality factors.
- 6. 10.51 were attacked by pupal parasites.
- 7. 9.85 eggs survived to produce viable healthy pupae which were assumed to emerge successfully.

Thus for 100 eggs originally laid, the overall survival is very low with only 9.85 eggs surviving all mortality factors to the rupal stage.

For the new seasons leaves, of the trees examined up to 17.7.78 when the investigation ended, Tree 15 appeared to have the maximum number of F. ilicis eggs. Trees least affected were Trees 5 and 16 (Table 33). From T-ble 28, trees most infected were Trees 15, 5, and6. Least affected were Trees 1 and 2, thus for maximum infestation it would appear that trends are constant. It would be expected that trees with high levels of infestation would be those where the pupal survival is greatest.(Table34) i.e. Trees 1, 7, and8. Although to date this was not the case no valid conclusions can be drawn until the end of the erg laying period. Summary of the number of eggs for 1978 season laid per leaf. up to 17th July, 1978.

Tree N	o. Eggs per 100	Fre 1.	quency 2.	for Egg 3.	No. 4.
1.	31	26	5		
2.	46	26	4	4	
3.	41	29	9	4	-
4.	40	28	6		
5.	12	10	1		-
6.	65	34	10	1	2
7.	39	21	8		
8.	20	16	2	ي من العلم ومحمد مريد الله . 1996 - محمد مريد الله . 1997 - محمد الله . 1997 - محمد الله .	•
9.	54	34	10	102645	arise.
10.	Not sampled			-	-
11.	40	18	8	2	11 - 12 - 22 14 - 22 - 2 14 - 22 - 28 -
12.	48	17	8	5	
13.	20	16	2		-
14.	37	24	2	3	
15.	74	39	13	3	ńcze
16.	13	7	3	FORM	-

Number of pupae avoiding parasitism expressed as % of total number of pupae recorded per tree.

Tree No.	% Healthy Pupae
1	90 ₀ 40
2	64.00
3	61.96
4	18,56
5	51.57
6	17.65
7	7 6,50
8	<u>8</u> 8.24
9	35•50
10	23.78
1	31.25
12	37.00
13	48.54
14	41.43
15	54.00
16	51.80

5. Conclusions.

A significant difference in infestation between the sixteen sampled trees was found at 5% level of significance, but this was insignificant at 1% level. The overall level of infestation was independant of both the height and diameter of the trees. Total mine number and egg density varied significantly between trees. It was assumed that spatial isolation would influence the level of infestation, since trees close together are more liable to reinfection by P.ilicis. from neighbouring trees than isolated trees. Although lowest values were observed for Treesl and 2, and these were also the most isolated, little difference was found in population density between moderately spaced trees and those within a restricted area. Both aspect and height were observed to influence egg/mine density. Highest population density was recorded generally from the East side. Maximum egg numbers were observed between 100-150cm height interval, population density falling considerably at heights above 300cm. Reasons for the differences in egg/mine density within and between trees are many(section 5), but the most obvious factor influencing the number of eggs laid is the availability of susceptible host material. Cuticle thickness was not found to influence whether a leaf was mined or not when comparisons between cuticle thickness for mined and unmined leaves were compared. No significant difference in cuticle thickness between trees was also observed. Cuticle size however is important since adult P.ilicis can only mine young holly leaves, and as the leaves develop they become resistant to attock.

Maximum number of eggs per leaf observed was 5, from which only 2 was observed to survive to the larval stage. Viability was reduced with increased egg density, and this was thought to reduce competion between individuals for both food and space hence increase the chance of survival of any one individual larva. Several theories are postulated and are outlined in section 5. Egg density was found to influence the viability of eggs within the leaf but the relationship between egg mortalit and egg density was density-independent.

Mortality of larvae within the mines was caused by bird-attack, attack by the larval parasite <u>C. gemma</u>, and by an unknown mortality factor influencingsurvival in the early stages of development. The major source of mortality was by bird-feeding followed by parasite attack. The pupal parasites recorded during the investigation were <u>C.syma</u> and <u>S.flavicornis. C.syma</u> was the most common pupal parasite, but when all parasite species were considered, C. gemma was the commonest.

Egg mortality was greatest for Tree8, and least for Tree 16, while attack by feeding birds was most severe for Tree2 and least severe for Tree 16. Attack from larval parasites was greatest for Tree 16, the former having least effect upon Tree11. Pupal parasites had greatest effect upon Tree14 and least effect upon Tree8. Tree10, although it was not recorded as having a high value for the number of pupae avoiding parasitism, the assumed successful emergences are greatest. For the new seasons growth more samples throughout the egg laying period are required before any valid conclusions can be drawn.

7. Appendix 1.

Rawlins	Fluid	(universal	fixative)
100 cm	50%	alcohol.	
6.5 cm	For	nalin.	
2.5 cm	Glad	cial acetic	acid.

Appendix 2.

Difference in infestation with aspect.

Calculated x. ²	Tabulated x^2 (5%sig).	Significance.	Aspect.
6.40	7.81	Not sig.(mines)	Tree 1.
13.11	7.81	Sig (eggs)	
15.08	7.81	" (mines)	Tree 2.
30.35	7.81	" (eggs)	
17.03	7.81	" (mines)	Tree 3.
28.70	7.81	" (eggs)	
18.17	7.81	" (mines)	Tree 4.
31.43	7.81	" (eggs)	
7.19	7.81	Not sig.(mines)	Tree 5.
15.22	7.81	Sig. (eggs)	n en seu d'Astronio de la constante de la const Constante de la constante de la Constante de la constante de la
1.26	7.81	Not sig.(mines)	Tree 9.
1.31	7.81	Not sig.(eggs)	
21.95	11.07	Sig. (mines)	Tree 1. (heigh
35.95	11.07	" (eggs)	

Appendix 3.

 x^{2} for sig.diff. with aspect and height.

15.95	9.49	Sig. (mines)	Tree 1.
21.52	11.07	" (mines)	
17.65	9.49	" (mines)	
30.43	11.07	" (mines)	
47.34	15.51	Sig. (mines)	Tree 3.
68.95	15.51	" (eggs)	n an
2.03		Not sig.(mines)	Tree 6.
2.13		(eggs)	
10.43	5.99	for initial sample	Tree 10height
53.37	14.07	" (mines)	n
80.45	14.07	" (eggs)	
Appendix 4.

Differences in egg density between trees. Calculated x² Tabulated x² significance 50.24 25.0 sig. Difference in mine density between trees. 25.0 33.85 sig. Difference in C.gemma attack between trees. 32.37 25.0 sig. Difference in C.syma attack between trees. 111.28 25.0 sig . Difference in the no. of non-parasitised pupar between trees. 150 83 25.0 sig. Difference in empty mine no. between trees. 17.24 25.0 not sig. Difference in the larvae-pupae survival between trees. 25.43 25.0 not sig. Difference in the no. of bird-pecks between trees. 25.0 not sig. 22.85 Difference in the % egg mortality between trees. 25.0 23.15 not sig.

____ •

8. Achnowledgements

I am indebted to Mrs Alison Bolohm for typing this thesis and to Miss N. Dobson for completing the task. My thanks go to the Technical staff of both the Zoology and Botany departments and especially to my supervisor Dr. S. Goddard, for the help and advice she has given me.

9. References

- Agarwal, R. A. (1969) Morphological characteristics of sugar cane and insect resistance. Entomologia exp. appl., <u>12</u>: 767-776.
- Askew, R. W. (1961) Competition between <u>Neuropterus</u> sp. In Stokes (1969).
- Cameron, E. (1939) The holly leaf miner and its parasites.
 Bull. Ent. Res. <u>30</u>: 173-207.
- 4. Dallimore, W. (1908) Holly, Yew and Box, London.

il he dian.

C. Madalana Contract Street

5. De Candolle, A. (1855) Geographie Botanique Raisonee, Paris.

- Elwes, H. J. and Henry, A. (1913) Trees of Great Britain and Ireland. Vol. 7. Edinburgh.
- 7. Feeny, P. P. (1970) Seasonal changes in oak leaf tannins and nutrients as a cause of spring feeding by winter moth caterpillars. Ecology 51: 565-581.
- Fraenkel, G. (1953) The nutritional value of green plants for insects. Trans. 9th int. Congr. Ent., Amsterdam.

- 9. Hering, E. M. (1951) Biology of the leaf miners. Wjunk, The Hague, 402 pp.
- Iverson, J. (1944) Viscum, Hedera and Ilex as climatic indicators. Geol. For. Stockh. Forh <u>66</u>: 463-83.
- 11. Kennedy, J. S. and Booth, C. O. (1951) Host alternation in Aphis fabae Scop. 1. Feeding preferences and fecundity in relation to the age and kind of leaves. Ann. appl. Biol. <u>38</u>: 25-64.
- Lewis, T. and Taylor, L. R. (1974) Introduction to Experimental Ecology. Academic Press. London Ltd.
- Liphe, H. and Fraenkel, G. (1956) Insect Nutrition. A. Rev.
 Ent. <u>1</u>: 17-14.
- 14. Mial, L. C. and Taylor, T. H. (1907) The structure and lifehistory of the Holly-fly. Trans. Ent. Soc. 259-283.
- Morris, R. F. (1959) Single factor analysis in population dynamics. Ecology, <u>40</u>: 580-588.
- 16. Owen, D. F. (1975) The efficiency of Blue tits.<u>Parus caerulens</u> preying on larvae of <u>P. licis</u>. Ibis <u>117</u>: 515-516.

- Peterkin, G. F. and Lloyd, P. S. (1967) Biological flora of the British Isles - Ilex aquifolium. J. Ecol. <u>553</u>: 841-55.
- 18. Ripley, L. B. and Van Heerden, P. W. (1939) Further studies on gust atory reactions of the Watlle Bagworm (<u>Ac anthopsyche</u> <u>junodi</u>, Heyl.) Bull. Dep. Agric. For. Un. S. Afr., no. 205, 20pp.
- 19. Southwood, T. R. E. (1961) The number of species of insect associated with various trees. J. Anim. Ecol. <u>30</u>: 1-8.
- 20. Southwood, T. R. E. (1961) The evolution of the insect-host tree relationship - a new approach. Proc. 11th Int. Congr. Ent., Vienna, 1960 1: 651-654.
- 21. Stokes, M. (1969) Population density and mortality factors in a population of the holly leaf miner. University College of North Wales, Bangor.
- 22. Tanton, M. T. (1962) The effect of leaf toughness on the feeding larvae of the mustard beetle. Entomologia exp. appl. <u>5</u>: 74-78.
- 23. Tinbergen, L. (1960) Arch. Neerl. Zool. 13: 266-336.
- 24. Varley, G. C. and Gradwell, G. R. (1963) Predatory insects as density-dependant mortality factors. Proc. XVI int. Congr. zool. 1: 240.

- 25. Varley, G. C. and Gradwell, G. R. (1965) Interpreting winter moth population changes. Proc. XIIth int. Congr. Ent. 377-8.
- 26. Williamson, 1972-- figure redrawn from Klomp, H. (1966)
 The Dynamics of a Field Population of the Pine hooper
 <u>Bupalus piniarius</u> L. (Lep., Geom). Adv. ecol. Res.
 3: 207-305.

